POLITECNICO DI TORINO Repository ISTITUZIONALE

New non-extremal and BPS hairy black holes in gauged $\$ mathcal{N} $\$ = 2 and $\$ mathcal{N} $\$ supergravity

Original

New non-extremal and BPS hairy black holes in gauged \$\$ mathcal{N} \$\$ = 2 and \$\$ mathcal{N} \$\$ = 8 supergravity / Anabalon, Andres; Astefanesei, Dumitru; Gallerati, Antonio; Trigiante, Mario. - In: JOURNAL OF HIGH ENERGY PHYSICS. - ISSN 1029-8479. - ELETTRONICO. - 2021:4(2021). [10.1007/JHEP04(2021)047]

Availability: This version is available at: 11583/2885590 since: 2021-04-08T10:53:20Z

Publisher: Springer

Published DOI:10.1007/JHEP04(2021)047

Terms of use:

This article is made available under terms and conditions as specified in the corresponding bibliographic description in the repository

Publisher copyright

(Article begins on next page)

Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: December 29, 2020 REVISED: February 17, 2021 ACCEPTED: March 7, 2021 PUBLISHED: April 7, 2021

New non-extremal and BPS hairy black holes in gauged $\mathcal{N}=2$ and $\mathcal{N}=8$ supergravity

Andres Anabalon,^{*a,b*} Dumitru Astefanesei,^{*c*} Antonio Gallerati^{*d,e*} and Mario Trigiante^{*d,e*}

- ^a Universidad Adolfo Ibáñez, Dep. de Ciencias, Fac. de Artes Liberales,
- Av. Padre Hurtado 750, Viña del Mar, Chile
- ^bDepartamento de Física, Universidad de Oviedo,
- Avda. Federico García Lorca 18, 33007 Oviedo, Spain
- ^cPontificia Universidad Católica de Valparaíso, Instituto de Física,
- Av. Brasil 2950, Valparaíso, Chile
- ^dPolitecnico di Torino, Dipartimento DISAT,
- corso Duca degli Abruzzi 24, 10129 Torino, Italy
- ^eIstituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare (INFN),
- sez. TO, via Pietro Giuria 1, 10125 Torino, Italy

E-mail: and res. anabalon Quai.cl, dumitru. astefanesei Qpucv.cl, antonio.gallerati Qpolito.it, mario.trigiante Qpolito.it

ABSTRACT: In this article we study a family of four-dimensional, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity theories that interpolates between all the single dilaton truncations of the SO(8) gauged $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity. In this infinitely many theories characterized by two real numbers — the interpolation parameter and the dyonic "angle" of the gauging — we construct non-extremal electrically or magnetically charged black hole solutions and their supersymmetric limits. All the supersymmetric black holes have non-singular horizons with spherical, hyperbolic or planar topology. Some of these supersymmetric and non-extremal black holes are new examples in the $\mathcal{N} = 8$ theory that do not belong to the STU model. We compute the asymptotic charges, thermodynamics and boundary conditions of these black holes and show that all of them, except one, introduce a triple trace deformation in the dual theory.

KEYWORDS: Black Holes, Extended Supersymmetry, Supergravity Models, Supersymmetry and Duality

ARXIV EPRINT: 2012.09877





Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	$\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauged theory	2
3	The model	3
	3.1 Redefinitions	5
	3.2 Hairy black hole solutions	6
	3.2.1 Family $1 - $ electric solutions	6
	3.2.2 Family 2 — magnetic solutions	8
	3.3 The special case $n = 1$ or $\nu = \infty$	9
	3.4 Duality relation between the two families of solutions	10
	3.5 Supersymmetric solutions	14
	3.5.1 Family 1	15
	3.5.2 Family 2	15
	3.5.3 Special case $n = 1$	16
4	Supersymmetric black holes of finite area	16
	4.1 Family 1: BPS electric black holes	16
	4.2 Family 2: BPS magnetic black holes	17
5	$\mathcal{N} = 8 \mathrm{truncations}$	17
	5.1 Uncharged case	18
	5.2 Charged case	19
6	Conclusions	22
\mathbf{A}	Recovering known cases	23
	A.1 Duff-Liu	23
	A.2 Cacciatori-Klemm	25
в	Kähler geometry and effective action	26
	B.1 Special geometry	26
	B.2 Effective action	28
С	Supersymmetry relations	29

1 Introduction

Anti-de Sitter (AdS) black hole solutions have received great attention in the last decades, due to the role they play in the phenomenology of the AdS/CFT conjecture [1]. The latter is a holographic correspondence that relates gravity theories in AdS spacetimes to dual field theories living in one dimension less. The classical AdS black hole solutions can provide relevant information about properties of the strongly coupled (dual) gauge theory and the duality can be also exploited to give a description of various condensed matter phenomena.

The study of thermodynamic properties of AdS black holes began with the seminal paper [2], where a first order phase transition from thermal AdS space to a (large) black hole phase was shown to exist. This analysis was subsequently extended to a variety of AdS black hole solutions [3–6]. These studies suggest that the black hole configurations possess phase structures that can reveal critical phenomena like many other common thermodynamic systems. In principle, the AdS/CFT dictionary should also allow to compute the microscopic entropy of AdS black holes and to compare it then with the macroscopic Bekenstein-Hawking result. This program has been rather successful in the supersymmetric case, see for instance [7, 8]. Indeed, of particular interest are black holes preserving a certain amount of supersymmetry allowing to map a weak (string) coupling computation of the entropy within superstring theory to the strong-coupling regime, where a formulation in terms of a black hole is valid [9].

The study of supersymmetric black hole solutions in AdS started with the paper of Romans [10], which showed that for minimal gauged D = 4, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity extremal, spherically symmetric black holes in four dimensions are not BPS. Romans also found a solution with hyperbolic horizon that is supersymmetric and he called it a "cosmological dyon". Later, it was shown that this solution represented a black hole, when the electric charge vanishes, with globally defined Killing spinors [11]. This solution was then embedded in eleven dimensional supergravity in [12]. We would like to remark that [13] provided the first non-singular example of asymptotically AdS supersymmetric static black hole in four dimensions. This work then called for a comprehensive analysis of these solutions and their generalizations, see for instance [14–26].

The aim of this paper is the construction and discussion of new exact charged hairy black hole solutions in gauged D = 4 supergravity, generalizing previous ones in [27–30]. As we have discussed in the uncharged case in [29, 31], the model of this paper interpolates between four single dilaton truncations of the SO(8), $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity [32, 33], with a possible dyonic gauging [34–38]. These four truncations break SO(8) into SO(p)×SO(8–p). In the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ case, one includes two U(1) vectors, and the truncations with even p can be seen as a subsector of the STU model. The truncations with odd p and two Maxwell fields were previously unknown. We therefore prove, by an explicit construction, that the case with p = 3 and two vectors can be embedded in $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity. We leave the case with p = 1 for a future work.

Generally, the infinite class of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories are characterized by two continuous parameters, namely the interpolation parameter and a parameter associated to the dyonic gauging. We then provide explicit expressions for two new different families of non-extremal solutions and we analyse the duality relation between them. We also perform a systematic investigation of the thermodynamic properties of our new solutions and the analysis of the boundary conditions of the scalar field. It turns out that all these solution induce a triple trace deformation in the dual theory. Finally, we study the values of the parameters leading to supersymmetric configurations for our model. We also recover a known dyonic solution of the STU model which is a subcase of the general family found in [18].

As an interesting historical remark, we note in appendix A that our non-extremal solutions, when constrained to the single dilaton truncations of the STU model, are the ones of Duff and Liu [39]. On the other hand, for the T^3 model our supersymmetric solutions are the ones of Cacciatori and Klemm [13]. Hence, one can conclude that, for the purely electric and purely magnetic cases, the T^3 model Cacciatori-Klemm solutions are the non-singular BPS limit of Duff-Liu.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we review the general structure of D = 4, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity coupled to vector multiplets in the presence of FI terms. In section 3 we focus on a specific class of models which interpolate between all the single dilaton truncations of the maximally supersymmetric SO(8) gauged, supergravity theory. Here we provide the black hole solutions in terms of canonically normalized fields, we study its thermodynamics and the boundary conditions. The two family of solutions are related by means of electromagnetic duality and we discuss this in detail. In section 4 we consider, among these solutions, the BPS ones: we show that, independently of the topology of the horizon, the solutions is presented in appendix A. Finally, in section 5, we characterize certain models within the general class under consideration as consistent truncations of $\mathcal{N} = 8$, D = 4 gauged supergravities. Here we construct a previously unknown very simple truncation of the maximally supersymmetric theory. This allows to embed the corresponding black hole solutions in the four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 8$ theory. Finally, we end with concluding remarks.

2 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauged theory

Let us consider an extended $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity theory in four dimensions, coupled to $n_{\rm v}$ vector multiplets and no hypermultiplets, in the presence of Fayet-Iliopoulos (FI) terms. The model describes $n_{\rm v} + 1$ vector fields A^{Λ}_{μ} , ($\Lambda = 0, \ldots, n_{\rm v}$) and $n_{\rm s} = n_{\rm v}$ complex scalar fields z^i ($i = 1, \ldots, n_{\rm s}$). The bosonic gauged Lagrangian reads

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \mathscr{L}_{\text{BOS}} = -\frac{R}{2} + g_{i\bar{j}} \partial_{\mu} z^{i} \partial^{\mu} \bar{z}^{\bar{j}} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(z, \bar{z}) F^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} F^{\Sigma \mu\nu} + \frac{1}{8\sqrt{-g}} \mathcal{R}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(z, \bar{z}) \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} F^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} F^{\Sigma}_{\rho\sigma} - V(z, \bar{z}), \qquad (2.1)$$

where $g = \det(g_{\mu\nu})$ and with the $n_v + 1$ vector field strengths:

$$F^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A^{\Lambda}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A^{\Lambda}_{\mu} \,. \tag{2.2}$$

The $n_{\rm s}$ complex scalars z^i couple to the vector fields in a non-minimal way through the real symmetric matrices $\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(z,\bar{z})$, $\mathcal{R}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(z,\bar{z})$ and span a special Kähler manifold $\mathscr{M}_{\rm SK}$

(see appendix B for definitions), while the scalar potential $V(z, \bar{z})$ originates from electricmagnetic FI terms.

In the following we will analyse a consistent dilaton truncation of a class of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravities. Within this model, we shall describe families of hairy black hole solutions, regular on and outside the horizon, with dyonic FI terms. These families are related by a symmetry transformation acting non-trivially also on the FI parameters of the model, thus providing a noteworthy solution generating technique in asymptotically AdS spacetimes.¹

3 The model

The framework under consideration is an $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory with no hypermultiplets and a single vector multiplet ($n_v = 1$) containing a complex scalar field z. The geometry of the special Kähler manifold (see appendix B.1) is characterized by a prepotential of the form:

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}) = -\frac{i}{4} \left(\mathcal{X}^{0} \right)^{n} \left(\mathcal{X}^{1} \right)^{2-n} , \qquad (3.1)$$

 $\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}(z)$ being components of a holomorphic section of the symplectic bundle over the manifold and the coordinate z being identified with the ratio $\mathcal{X}^1/\mathcal{X}^0$, in a local patch in which $\mathcal{X}^0 \neq 0$.

For special values of n, the model is a consistent truncation of the STU model. The latter is a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity coupled to $n_v = 3$ vector multiplets and characterized, in a suitable symplectic frame, by the prepotential:

$$\mathcal{F}_{\rm STU}(\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}) = -\frac{i}{4} \sqrt{\mathcal{X}^0 \,\mathcal{X}^1 \,\mathcal{X}^2 \,\mathcal{X}^3}, \qquad (3.2)$$

and the scalar manifold is symmetric of the form $\mathcal{M}_{STU} = (SL(2,\mathbb{R})/SO(2))^3$, spanned by the three complex scalars $z^i = \mathcal{X}^i/\mathcal{X}^0$, i = 1, 2, 3. This model, for a certain choice of the FI terms, is in turn a consistent truncation of the maximal $\mathcal{N} = 8$ theory in four-dimensions with SO(8) gauge group [39]. For n = 1/2, the theory under consideration is the so-called z^3 -model, whose manifold is $SL(2,\mathbb{R})/SO(2)$ and is embedded in that of the STU model through the identification $z^1 = z^2 = z^3 = z$. Another consistent truncation of the STU model is found for n = 1: this theory is again characterized by a manifold of the form $SL(2,\mathbb{R})/SO(2)$ but with a different coupling of the scalar fields to the vectors and, in particular, it corresponds to the so-called minimal coupling model, describing a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity coupled to 1 abelian vector multiplet [53].

If we set $\mathcal{X}^0 = 1$, the holomorphic section Ω^M of the model reads:

$$\Omega^{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ z \\ -\frac{i}{4} n z^{2-n} \\ -\frac{i}{4} (2-n) z^{1-n} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.3)$$

¹The assumption is not generic, since in asymptotically AdS black holes the solutions generating technique [40–50], based on the global isometry group of the ungauged theory, can no longer be applied in a gauged model, due to the non-trivial duality action on the embedding tensor [51, 52].

and the Kähler potential \mathcal{K} has the expression

$$e^{-\mathcal{K}} = \frac{1}{4} z^{1-n} \left(n z - (n-2) \bar{z} \right) + \text{c.c.}$$
(3.4)

The theory is then deformed with the introduction of abelian electric-magnetic FI terms defined by a constant symplectic vector $\theta^M = (\theta^1, \theta^2, \theta^3, \theta^4)$, encoding the gauge parameters of the model. The scalar potential $V(z, \bar{z})$ can be then obtained from:

$$V = \left(g^{i\bar{j}}\mathcal{U}_i^M\bar{\mathcal{U}}_{\bar{j}}^N - 3\mathcal{V}^M\bar{\mathcal{V}}^N\right)\theta_M\theta_N = -\frac{1}{2}\theta_M\mathcal{M}^{MN}\theta_N - 4\mathcal{V}^M\bar{\mathcal{V}}^N\theta_M\theta_N\,,\qquad(3.5)$$

where $\mathcal{V}^M = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \Omega^M$, $\mathcal{U}_i^M = \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{V}^M$ and $\mathcal{M}(\phi)$ is the symplectic, symmetric, negative definite matrix encoding the non-minimal couplings of the scalars to the vector fields of the theory (see appendix B.1).

Writing $z = e^{\lambda \phi} + i \chi$, the truncation to the dilaton field ϕ

$$\chi = 0, \qquad (3.6)$$

in the absence of electric and magnetic charges, is consistent provided:

$$(2-n)\,\theta_1\,\theta_3 - n\,\theta_2\,\theta_4 = 0\,. \tag{3.7}$$

In the presence of electric and magnetic charges, sufficient conditions for a consistent truncation to the dilaton include, besides the above eq. (3.7),

$$F^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} \partial_{\chi} \mathcal{R}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Sigma}_{\rho\sigma} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \Big|_{\chi=0} = 0.$$
(3.8)

Conditions (3.7) and (3.8) come from the consistency of the axion field equation after the $\chi = 0$ truncation (see also the scalars field equations described in section 3.4).²

The metric, restricted to the dilaton, reads:

$$ds^{2} = 2 g_{z\bar{z}} dz d\bar{z} \Big|_{\substack{\chi=0\\d\chi=0}} = \frac{1}{2} \lambda^{2} n (2-n) d\phi^{2}, \qquad (3.9)$$

and is positive provided 0 < n < 2. Choosing

$$\lambda = \sqrt{\frac{2}{n\left(2-n\right)}}\,,\tag{3.10}$$

the kinetic term for ϕ is canonically normalized. As a function of the dilaton only, the scalar potential has the following explicit form:

$$V(\phi) = -2e^{\lambda\phi(n-2)} \left(\frac{2n-1}{n} \theta_1^2 + 4\theta_1 \theta_2 e^{\lambda\phi} + \frac{2n-3}{n-2} \theta_2^2 e^{2\lambda\phi} \right) - \frac{1}{8} e^{-\lambda\phi(n-2)} \left((2n-1)n\theta_3^2 - 4\theta_3 \theta_4 n(n-2)e^{-\lambda\phi} + (n-2)(2n-3)\theta_4^2 e^{-2\lambda\phi} \right).$$
(3.11)

²In the model under consideration, one has $\partial_{\chi} \mathcal{I}|_{\chi=0} = 0$, $\mathcal{R}|_{\chi=0} = 0$ and $\partial_{\chi} \mathcal{R}|_{\chi=0} \neq 0$.

3.1 Redefinitions

Let us now make the shift

$$\phi \rightarrow \phi - \frac{2\nu}{\lambda(\nu+1)} \log(\theta_2 \xi),$$
(3.12)

and redefine the FI terms as:

$$\theta_1 = \frac{\nu+1}{\nu-1} \,\theta_2^{-\frac{\nu-1}{\nu+1}} \,\xi^{-\frac{2\nu}{\nu+1}} \,, \qquad \theta_3 = 2\,\alpha\,(\xi\,\theta_2)^{\frac{\nu-1}{\nu+1}}\,s \,, \qquad \theta_4 = \frac{2\,\alpha}{\theta_2\,\xi\,s} \,, \tag{3.13}$$

having defined the quantity

$$\nu = \frac{1}{n-1},$$
 (3.14)

and having also introduced the parameters α , ξ and s. In light of the new parametrization (3.13), condition (3.7) requires

$$\frac{2\,\alpha\,(s^2-1)\,(\nu+1)}{\nu\,\xi\,s} = 0\,,\tag{3.15}$$

which is solved, excluding the value $\nu = -1$ (n = 0), either for pure electric FI terms $(\alpha = 0)$ or for $s = \pm 1$. Since we are interested in dyonic FI terms, we shall restrict ourselves to the latter case. For $s = \pm 1$, it is straightforward to invert the parameterization yielding:

$$\xi = \theta_2^{-1} \left(\frac{\theta_3}{\theta_4}\right)^{\frac{\nu+1}{\nu}}, \qquad \alpha^2 = \frac{\theta_3 \,\theta_4}{4} \left(\frac{\theta_3}{\theta_4}\right)^{\frac{1}{\nu}}, \qquad (3.16)$$

which require that θ_3 and θ_4 have the same sign.

Next, it is convenient to express ξ in terms of the AdS radius L:

$$\xi = \frac{2\,L\,\nu}{\nu - 1}\,\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \alpha^2\,L^2}}\,.\tag{3.17}$$

This ensures the existence of an AdS vacuum without any further constraints on the original FI terms, as they just have to satisfy the inequality

$$\alpha^{2} L^{2} = \frac{(\nu - 1)^{2} \theta_{3}^{2(\nu+1)/\nu}}{(\nu - 1)^{2} \theta_{3}^{2(\nu+1)/\nu} + 16 \nu^{2} \theta_{2}^{2} \theta_{4}^{2/\nu}} \leq 1, \qquad (3.18)$$

which is always true. The only two points which are not possible to reach with our parameterization are either $\theta_3 = 0$ and $\theta_4 \neq 0$ or $\theta_4 = 0$ and $\theta_3 \neq 0$.

After the shift (3.12), the scalar field z is expressed as

$$z = (\theta_2 \xi)^{-\frac{2\nu}{\nu+1}} e^{\lambda \phi}, \qquad (3.19)$$

and the same redefinition for the potential (with $s = \pm 1$) yields

$$V(\phi) = -\frac{\alpha^2}{\nu^2} \left(\frac{(\nu-1)(\nu-2)}{2} e^{-\phi\ell(\nu+1)} + 2(\nu^2 - 1) e^{-\phi\ell} + \frac{(\nu+1)(\nu+2)}{2} e^{\phi\ell(\nu-1)} \right) + \frac{\alpha^2 - L^{-2}}{\nu^2} \left(\frac{(\nu-1)(\nu-2)}{2} e^{\phi\ell(\nu+1)} + 2(\nu^2 - 1) e^{\phi\ell} + \frac{(\nu+1)(\nu+2)}{2} e^{-\phi\ell(\nu-1)} \right),$$
(3.20)

where $\ell = \frac{\lambda}{\nu}$ and having disposed of θ_2 by the above redefinitions.

After the restriction to the dilaton truncation, the matrix $\mathcal{R}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ vanishes and the action has the form

$$\mathscr{S} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int d^4x \,\sqrt{-g} \left(-\frac{R}{2} + \frac{\partial_\mu \phi \,\partial^\mu \phi}{2} + \frac{1}{4} \,\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi) \,F^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} \,F^{\Sigma\,\mu\nu} - \,V(\phi) \right), \tag{3.21}$$

where the matrix $\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ explicitly reads

$$\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1+\nu}{4\nu} e^{(-1+\nu)\ell\phi} \left(\theta_2 \xi\right)^{\frac{2(1-\nu)}{1+\nu}} & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1-\nu}{4\nu} e^{-(1+\nu)\ell\phi} \left(\theta_2 \xi\right)^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.22)

It is more transparent to work with of the canonically normalized gauge fields

$$\bar{F}^{1} = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{1+\nu}{\nu}} \left(\theta_{2} \xi\right)^{\frac{1-\nu}{1+\nu}} F^{1}, \qquad \bar{F}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{-1+\nu}{\nu}} \left(\theta_{2} \xi\right) F^{2}, \qquad (3.23)$$

in terms of which the action reads

$$\mathscr{S} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int d^4x \,\sqrt{-g} \left(-\frac{R}{2} + \frac{\partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi}{2} - \frac{1}{4} e^{(-1+\nu)\ell\phi} \left(\bar{F}^1\right)^2 - \frac{1}{4} e^{-(1+\nu)\ell\phi} \left(\bar{F}^2\right)^2 - V(\phi) \right). \tag{3.24}$$

3.2 Hairy black hole solutions

In what follows, we construct two distinct families of solutions, which we refer to as electric and magnetic, respectively. We present solutions with spherical, toroidal, and hyperbolic horizon topology and an analysis of their thermodynamics and asymptotic structure.

3.2.1 Family 1 — electric solutions

A family of solutions is given by

$$\phi = -\ell^{-1} \ln(x), \qquad (3.25a)$$

$$\bar{F}_{-}^{1} = Q_{1} x^{-1+\nu} \qquad \bar{F}_{-}^{2} = Q_{2} x^{-1-\nu} \qquad (3.25b)$$

$$f(x) = \frac{x^{2-\nu} \eta^2 (x^{\nu} - 1)^2}{\nu^2} \frac{k}{L^2} + \alpha^2 L^2 \left(-1 + \frac{x^2}{\nu^2} \left((\nu + 2) x^{-\nu} - (\nu - 2) x^{\nu} + \nu^2 - 4 \right) \right) +$$
(3.25b)

$$+1 + \frac{x^{2-\nu} \eta^2 (x^{\nu} - 1)^3}{\nu^3 L^2} \left(\frac{Q_1^2}{(\nu+1)} - \frac{Q_2^2}{(\nu-1)} x^{-\nu} \right), \qquad (3.25c)$$

$$\Upsilon(x) = \frac{x^{\nu-1}\nu^2 L^2}{\eta^2 (x^{\nu} - 1)^2}, \qquad (3.25d)$$

$$ds^{2} = \Upsilon(x) \left(f(x) dt^{2} - \frac{\eta^{2}}{f(x)} dx^{2} - L^{2} d\Sigma_{k} \right), \qquad (3.25e)$$

%endgroup where η is an integration constant, $d\Sigma_k^2 = d\theta^2 + \frac{\sin^2(\sqrt{k}\theta)}{k} d\varphi^2$ is the metric on the 2*D*-surfaces $\Sigma_k = \{\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{H}^2, \mathbb{R}^2\}$ (sphere, hyperboloid and flat space) with constant scalar curvature $R = 2 k \cdot ^3$ The solutions are written in a form that makes the uncharged limit well-defined, yielding the hairy black holes of [29]. This is not the standard use of the literature of static supergravity black holes, where the uncharged limit is either Schwarzschild or Schwarzschild-AdS spacetime.

³To compare with our previous paper, [29], note that the scalar curvature of Σ_k has a different normalization. This ammounts to $k^{\text{HERE}} = k^{\text{THERE}} L^2$.

Boundary conditions, mass and thermodynamics for the electric solutions. To compare with the AdS canonical coordinates, let us consider the following fall-off:

$$\Upsilon(x) = \frac{r^2}{L^2} + O\left(r^{-2}\right) \,. \tag{3.26}$$

The change of coordinates that provides the right asymptotic behaviour is

$$x = 1 \pm \left(\frac{L^2}{\eta r} + L^6 \frac{1 - \nu^2}{24 (\eta r)^3}\right) + L^8 \frac{\nu^2 - 1}{24 (\eta r)^4}, \qquad (3.27)$$

where we take $\eta > 0$ and the \pm sign depends on whether one takes the x < 1 (-) or x > 1 (+). Accordingly, the asymptotic behaviour of the scalar field is

$$\phi = L^2 \frac{\phi_0}{r} + L^4 \frac{\phi_1}{r^2} + O\left(r^{-3}\right) = \mp L^2 \frac{1}{\ell \eta r} + L^4 \frac{1}{2\ell \eta^2 r^2} + O\left(r^{-3}\right), \qquad (3.28)$$

where we have normalized ϕ_0 and ϕ_1 to match their conformal and engineering dimension. In the canonical coordinates, we can now easily read off the coefficients of the leading and subleading terms in the scalar boundary expansion

$$\phi_0 = \pm \frac{1}{\ell \eta}, \qquad \phi_1 = \frac{\ell}{2} \phi_0^2, \qquad (3.29)$$

which corresponds to AdS invariant boundary conditions, namely a triple trace deformation in the boundary theory. Hence, the boundary conformal symmetry is preserved and the black hole mass can be read-off from the asymptotic expansion of the spacetime (3.25) [54–56]. Indeed, let us consider the asymptotic expansion of the metric:

$$g_{tt} = \frac{r^2}{L^2} + k - \frac{\mu_{\rm E} L^4}{r} + O\left(r^{-2}\right),$$

$$g_{rr} = -\frac{L^2}{r^2} - L^6 \frac{k L^{-2} + \frac{1}{2} \phi_0^2}{r^4} + O\left(r^{-5}\right),$$
(3.30)

where

$$\mu_{\rm E} = \pm \left(\frac{\nu^2 - 4}{3\eta^3} \,\alpha^2 \,L^2 - \frac{k}{\eta \,L^2} + \frac{Q_2^2}{\eta \,(\nu - 1) \,L^2} - \frac{Q_1^2}{\eta \,(\nu + 1) \,L^2} \right) \,, \tag{3.31}$$

and we have taken $\eta > 0$. Thus, the black hole mass is

$$M_{\rm E} = L^4 \, \frac{\mu_{\rm E} \, \sigma_k}{8\pi G} \,, \tag{3.32}$$

where $\sigma_k = \int d\Sigma_k$. Concretely, the values are $\sigma_1 = 4\pi$ and $\sigma_{-1} = 8\pi(g-1)$, where $g \ge 2$ is the genus of a compact negative constant curvature manifold. In the boundary, after discarding the conformal factor, the dual field theory lives on a manifold of radius L and therefore the energy density of a thermal gas of massless particles is [57]:

$$\rho_{\rm E} = \frac{L^2}{8\pi G} \,\mu_{\rm E}\,,\tag{3.33}$$

while the temperature is given by

$$T = \frac{|f(x)'|}{4\pi \eta} \Big|_{x=x_+},$$
(3.34)

where $f(x_{+}) = 0$. Finally, the entropy is expressed as

$$S = \frac{L^2 \Upsilon(x_+) \sigma_k}{4G} \,. \tag{3.35}$$

The physical charges and electric potentials are

$$q_{1} = \frac{L^{2} Q_{1} \sigma_{k}}{8\pi G \eta}, \qquad \Phi_{1}^{E} = Q_{1} \frac{x_{+}^{\nu} - 1}{\nu}; q_{2} = \frac{L^{2} Q_{2} \sigma_{k}}{8\pi G \eta}, \qquad \Phi_{2}^{E} = Q_{2} \frac{1 - x_{+}^{-\nu}}{\nu},$$
(3.36)

and it is possible to verify that these quantities satisfy the first law of thermodynamics

$$dM_{\rm E} = T \, dS + \Phi_1^{\rm E} \, dq_1 + \Phi_2^{\rm E} \, dq_2 \,. \tag{3.37}$$

3.2.2 Family 2 — magnetic solutions

A second family of solutions is given by

$$\phi = +\ell^{-1}\ln(x), \qquad (3.38a)$$

$$\bar{F}^{1}_{\theta\varphi} = P_{1} \frac{\sin(\sqrt{k\,\theta})}{\sqrt{k}}, \qquad \bar{F}^{2}_{\theta\varphi} = P_{2} \frac{\sin(\sqrt{k\,\theta})}{\sqrt{k}}, \qquad (3.38b)$$

$$f(x) = \frac{x^{2-\nu} \eta^2 (x^{\nu} - 1)^2}{\nu^2} \frac{k}{L^2} + \left(1 - \alpha^2 L^2\right) \left(-1 + \frac{x^2}{\nu^2} \left((\nu + 2) x^{-\nu} - (\nu - 2) x^{\nu} + \nu^2 - 4\right)\right) + \frac{2}{\nu^2} \left(1 - \alpha^2 L^2\right) \left(-1 + \frac{x^2}{\nu^2} \left((\nu + 2) x^{-\nu} - (\nu - 2) x^{\nu} + \nu^2 - 4\right)\right) + \frac{2}{\nu^2} \left(1 - \alpha^2 L^2\right) \left(1 - \alpha^2 L$$

$$+1+\frac{x^{2-\nu}\eta^4(x^{\nu}-1)^3}{\nu^3 L^6} \left(\frac{P_1^2}{(\nu+1)}-\frac{P_2^2}{(\nu-1)}x^{-\nu}\right),\tag{3.38c}$$

$$\Upsilon(x) = \frac{x^{\nu-1}\nu^2 L^2}{\eta^2 (x^{\nu} - 1)^2},$$
(3.38d)

$$ds^{2} = \Upsilon(x) \left(f(x) dt^{2} - \frac{\eta^{2}}{f(x)} dx^{2} - L^{2} d\Sigma_{k} \right).$$
(3.38e)

The electric and magnetic solutions are related to each other by means of electromagnetic duality

$$\phi \to -\phi, \qquad \alpha^2 \to L^{-2} - \alpha^2, \qquad (3.39)$$

and the corresponding transformation of the electromagnetic fields (see also section 3.4). These two families of solutions are charged generalizations of the hairy black holes we have already obtained in [29]. In each family, the asymptotic region is located at the pole of order 2 of the conformal factor $\Upsilon(x)$, namely x = 1. The geometry and scalar field are singular at x = 0 and $x = \infty$, therefore, the configuration contains two disjoint geometries given by $x \in (1, \infty)$ or $x \in (0, 1)$. The latter geometries are different, since the value (sign)

of the scalar field ϕ is different depending whether x is greater or less than 1, while the scalar potential is not an even function of ϕ .⁴

As we shall see in section 4, each of the two families of solutions is naturally defined in one of these disjoint regions. If the solution, described in one of these regions, is a regular black hole, then the region itself is a geodesically complete spacetime provided reflective boundary conditions are imposed at radial infinity.

Boundary conditions, mass and thermodynamics for the magnetic solutions. The metric of the magnetic family can be obtained from the electric solutions by means of the transformation

$$Q_i \to \frac{\eta}{L^2} P_i, \qquad \alpha^2 \to L^{-2} - \alpha^2.$$
 (3.40)

Therefore all the discussions on mass and thermodynamics carry on from the electric to the magnetic case. The only important difference is that the scalar field satisfies now other boundary conditions

$$\phi_1 = -\frac{\ell}{2} \,\phi_0^2 \,, \tag{3.41}$$

which correspond again to AdS invariant boundary conditions, for more details see [29]. We define now

$$\mu_{\rm M} = \pm \left(\frac{\nu^2 - 4}{3\eta^3} \left(1 - \alpha^2 L^2 \right) - \frac{k}{\eta L^2} + \frac{\eta P_2^2}{(\nu - 1)L^6} - \frac{\eta P_1^2}{(\nu + 1)L^6} \right) , \qquad (3.42)$$

where the \pm corresponds to the x > 1 and x < 1, respectively. The black hole mass is

$$M_{\rm M} = L^4 \, \frac{\mu_{\rm M} \, \sigma_k}{8\pi G} \,, \tag{3.43}$$

while the magnetic charges and potentials are

$$p_{1} = \frac{P_{1} \sigma_{k}}{8\pi G}, \qquad \Phi_{1}^{M} = \frac{P_{1} \eta}{L^{2}} \frac{x_{+}^{\nu} - 1}{\nu}; p_{2} = \frac{P_{2} \sigma_{k}}{8\pi G}, \qquad \Phi_{2}^{M} = \frac{P_{2} \eta}{L^{2}} \frac{1 - x_{+}^{-\nu}}{\nu}.$$
(3.44)

It is possible to verify that these quantities satisfy the first law of thermodynamics

$$dM_{\rm M} = T \, dS + \Phi_1^{\rm M} \, dp_1 + \Phi_2^{\rm M} \, dp_2 \,. \tag{3.45}$$

3.3 The special case n = 1 or $\nu = \infty$

This special class of solutions is interesting because it can be embedded in gauged $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity. The action in this case has the form

$$\mathscr{S} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(-\frac{R}{2} + \frac{\partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi}{2} - \frac{1}{4} e^{\sqrt{2}\phi} \left(\bar{F}^1\right)^2 - \frac{1}{4} e^{-\sqrt{2}\phi} \left(\bar{F}^2\right)^2 + \frac{1}{L^2} \left(2 + \cosh(\sqrt{2}\phi)\right) \right). \tag{3.46}$$

The scalar potential coming from (3.5) in the n = 1 limit is rewritten making the shift

$$\phi \to \phi - \sqrt{2} \log\left(\frac{\rho L}{2}\right),$$
 (3.47)

 $^{^{4}}$ We discussed this in more detail in [29].

and redefining the FI terms as:

$$\theta_1 = \frac{\cos(\zeta)}{\rho L^2}, \qquad \theta_2 = \frac{\rho}{4} \cos(\zeta), \qquad \theta_3 = \rho \sin(\zeta), \qquad \theta_4 = \frac{4 \sin(\zeta)}{\rho L^2}, \qquad (3.48)$$

while the field strengths have the form

$$\bar{F}^1 = (\rho L)^{-1} F^1, \qquad \bar{F}^2 = \frac{\rho L}{4} F^2.$$
 (3.49)

The above Lagrangian yields a consistent truncation of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ minimal coupling supergravity (corresponding to n = 1) provided the following constraint

$$\bar{F}^1 \wedge \bar{F}^1 - e^{-2\sqrt{2}\phi} \bar{F}^2 \wedge \bar{F}^2 = 0 \tag{3.50}$$

is satisfied. The above condition follows from eq. (3.8) and is required for the consistent truncation to the dilaton only.

It is possible to obtain the following dyonic solution for this theory,

$$\phi = -\ln(x)/\sqrt{2}, \qquad (3.51a)$$

$$\bar{F}_{tx}^1 = Q_1, \qquad \bar{F}_{\theta\varphi}^1 = P_1 \, \frac{\sin(\sqrt{k}\,\theta)}{\sqrt{k}}, \qquad (3.51b)$$

$$\bar{F}_{tx}^2 = \frac{Q_2}{x^2}, \qquad \bar{F}_{\theta\varphi}^2 = P_2 \frac{\sin(\sqrt{k}\,\theta)}{\sqrt{k}}, \qquad (3.51c)$$

$$f(x) = \frac{k \eta^2 (x-1)^2}{L^2 x} + 1 + \frac{\eta^2 (x-1)^3}{L^2 x} \left(Q_1^2 - \frac{Q_2^2}{x} - \frac{\eta^2}{L^4} \frac{P_1^2}{x} + \frac{\eta^2}{L^4} P_2^2 \right), \quad (3.51d)$$

$$\Upsilon(x) = \frac{x L^2}{\eta^2 (x-1)^2}, \qquad (3.51e)$$

$$ds^{2} = \Upsilon(x) \left(f(x) dt^{2} - \frac{\eta^{2}}{x^{2} f(x)} dx^{2} - L^{2} d\Sigma_{k} \right), \qquad (3.51f)$$

and the constraint (3.50) is solved if

$$P_1 Q_1 - P_2 Q_2 = 0. (3.52)$$

This dyonic solution is not new and it can be shown to be contained within the solutions of [18]. When an asymptotic analysis is done on these solutions, it can be found that the subleading term of the scalar field vanishes, $\phi_1 = 0$, and therefore only the leading term ϕ_0 is non-trivial. This solution is also peculiar in that only the hyperbolic black hole has a non-singular supersymmetric limit. This can be easily verified with the expressions given in section 4.

3.4 Duality relation between the two families of solutions

The two families of solutions described earlier are related by a non-perturbative electricmagnetic duality symmetry. This duality is a global symmetry of the ungauged theory, namely of the model without the FI term θ_M , and is extended to the gauged one once the constant tensor θ_M is made to transform under it as well. In general a transformation of θ_M , being it a non-dynamical quantity, would imply a change in the theory and thus the duality would be interpreted as an equivalence between seemingly different models. Such transformation can be absorbed in a redefinition of a single parameter α in θ_M : the two solutions related by duality satisfy the field equations of the same model with two dual values of the α parameter.

Let us first illustrate the action of the electric-magnetic duality equivalence among $\mathcal{N}=2$ supergravities with FI terms and then consider our specific model. Consider a generic $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory described by the Lagrangian:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \mathscr{L}_{\text{BOS}} = -\frac{R}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \mathscr{G}_{rs}(\phi) \partial_{\mu} \phi^{r} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{s} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi) F^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} F^{\Sigma \,\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{8\sqrt{-g}} \mathcal{R}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi) \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} F^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} F^{\Sigma}_{\rho\sigma} - V(\theta, \phi) , \qquad (3.53)$$

where now we are describing the scalar manifold (which is complex of special Kähler type in the absence of hypermultiplets) in terms of real scalars that are collectively denoted by $\phi(x) \equiv (\phi^s(x))$, and where $\mathscr{G}_{rs}(\phi)$ is the metric on the scalar manifold in the chosen real parametrization. The scalar potential $V(\theta, \phi)$ is given by eq. (3.5), and we have made explicit its dependence on both the scalar fields and the FI vector θ_M . Here we shall focus only on the bosonic part of the action and of the field equations. To describe the duality it is useful to define the magnetic field strengths as follows:

$$G_{\Lambda\,\mu\nu} = -\,\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \frac{\delta\mathscr{L}_{\text{BOS}}}{\delta F^{\Lambda}_{\rho\sigma}} = \mathcal{R}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Sigma}_{\mu\nu} - \mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma} * F^{\Sigma}_{\mu\nu} \,, \qquad (3.54)$$

where

$$^{*}F^{\Sigma}_{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{\sqrt{-g}}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} F^{\Lambda\rho\sigma} , \qquad (3.55)$$

and to introduce the symplectic field strength vector:

$$\mathbb{F}^{M} = \begin{pmatrix} F^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} \\ G_{\Lambda\,\mu\nu} \end{pmatrix} \,. \tag{3.56}$$

Defining the following $2(n_v + 1) \times 2(n_v + 1)$ matrices:

$$\mathcal{M}_{MN}(\phi) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma} + (\mathcal{R}\,\mathcal{I}^{-1}\,\mathcal{R})_{\Lambda\Sigma} & -(\mathcal{R}\,\mathcal{I}^{-1})_{\Lambda}{}^{\Gamma} \\ -(\mathcal{I}^{-1}\,\mathcal{R})^{\Delta}{}_{\Sigma} & (\mathcal{I}^{-1})^{\Delta\Gamma} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathbb{C} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{0} & \mathbb{1} \\ -\mathbb{1} & \mathbb{0} \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.57)

where each block is $(n_{\rm v}+1) \times (n_{\rm v}+1)$, the (bosonic part of) the field equations for the metric (Einstein equations), scalar fields and vector fields can be cast in the following compact form:

Einstein :
$$R_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\phi^{r} \partial_{\nu}\phi^{s} \mathscr{G}_{rs}(\phi) + \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{F}_{\mu\rho}^{M} \mathcal{M}_{MN}(\phi) \mathbb{F}_{\nu}^{N}{}^{\rho} - V(\theta, \phi) g_{\mu\nu} ,$$

scalars :
$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(\partial^{\mu}\phi^{s}) = \frac{1}{8} \mathscr{G}^{rs}(\phi) \mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu}^{M} \partial_{r} \mathcal{M}_{MN}(\phi) \mathbb{F}^{N\mu\nu} - \mathscr{G}^{rs}(\phi) \partial_{r} V(\theta, \phi) , \qquad (3.58)$$

vectors :
$$d\mathbb{F}^{M} = 0 , \quad {}^{*}\mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu} = -\mathbb{C} \mathcal{M}(\phi) \mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu} ,$$

μι $(\varphi) \ \mathbb{I} \ \mu \nu$ where, in the last equation (known as twisted self-duality condition), we have suppressed the symplectic indices (M, N, ...).

A feature of special Kähler manifolds, as well as of all scalar manifolds in extended supergravities with $\mathcal{N} > 2$, is the existence of a flat symplectic bundle structure on it, within which the matrix \mathcal{M}_{MN} can be regarded as a metric on the symplectic fiber. As a consequence of this, with each isometry **g** in the (identity sector of the) isometry group G of the scalar manifold, there corresponds a constant $2(n_v + 1) \times 2(n_v + 1)$ symplectic matrix $\mathscr{R}[\mathbf{g}] = (\mathscr{R}[\mathbf{g}]^M{}_N)$ such that, if $\phi' = (\phi'^s) = \phi'(\phi)$ describe the (non-linear) action of **g** on the scalar fields, we have that $\mathcal{M}_{MN}(\phi)$ transforms as a fiber metric:

$$\mathcal{M}(\phi') = (\mathscr{R}[\mathbf{g}]^{-1})^T \mathcal{M}(\phi) \, \mathscr{R}[\mathbf{g}]^{-1} \,, \tag{3.59}$$

where we have suppressed the symplectic indices. Being a symplectic matrix, $\mathscr{R}[\mathbf{g}]$ satisfies the condition $\mathscr{R}[\mathbf{g}]^T \mathbb{C} \mathscr{R}[\mathbf{g}] = \mathbb{C}$. Then if, for any isometry \mathbf{g} , we transform the fields $\mathbb{F}^M_{\mu\nu}$ and the constant vector θ_M correspondingly:

$$\mathbb{F}^{M}_{\mu\nu} \to \mathbb{F}'^{M}_{\mu\nu} = \mathscr{R}[\mathbf{g}]^{M}{}_{N} \mathbb{F}^{N}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \theta_{M} \to \theta'_{M} = (\mathscr{R}[\mathbf{g}]^{-1})^{N}{}_{M} \theta_{N}, \qquad (3.60)$$

the equations of motion (3.58) are formally left invariant. Indeed one can easily verify, for instance, that:

$$V(\theta',\phi') = V(\theta,\phi), \qquad \mathbb{F}_{\mu\rho}^{\prime M} \mathcal{M}_{MN}(\phi') \,\mathbb{F}_{\nu}^{\prime N}{}_{\rho}{}^{\rho} = \mathbb{F}_{\mu\rho}^{M} \mathcal{M}_{MN}(\phi) \,\mathbb{F}_{\nu}^{N}{}_{\rho}{}^{\rho}.$$
(3.61)

Aside from this duality equivalence, one can just redefine the field strengths and the FI constants without altering the physics of the model:

$$\mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu} \to \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{A} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & (\mathbf{A}^{-1})^T \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \theta \to \begin{pmatrix} (\mathbf{A}^{-1})^T & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{A} \end{pmatrix} \theta, \qquad (3.62)$$

where $\mathbf{A} = (A^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma})$ is a generic real, invertible matrix, not related to the isometries of the scalar manifold. This latter corresponds to a linear redefinition of the vector fields and just amounts to choosing a different basis in the symplectic fiber.

The above mechanism also works for our 1-scalar truncated model, provided the isometry does not switch on the truncated axion (imaginary part of z). In this special case the indices Λ , Σ run over two values, the scalar is only one and the metric is trivial ($\mathscr{G}(\phi) = 1$). Moreover the absence of the axion also implies $\mathcal{R}_{\Lambda\Sigma} = 0$, so that the matrix $\mathcal{M}_{MN}(\phi)$ has the simplified form:

$$\mathcal{M}_{MN}(\phi) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi) & \mathbb{O} \\ \mathbb{O} & (\mathcal{I}^{-1})^{\Delta\Gamma}(\phi) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.63)

The isometries of the scalar field are

$$\phi \to \phi' = \phi + \beta \,, \tag{3.64a}$$

$$\phi \to \phi' = -\phi, \qquad (3.64b)$$

 β being a constant. The first of the above isometries were used in section 3.1 to reabsorb the θ_2 dependence of the FI terms and thus to make them simpler, basically only depending

on the parameter α . This was followed by a corresponding redefinition of the field strengths and of the FI parameters of the kind (3.62). The resulting Lagrangian is (3.21).

Let us now consider the duality transformation associated with the isometry (3.64b). Using the property that $\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(-\phi) = (\mathcal{I}^{-1})^{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi)$, the reader can easily verify that the duality transformation $\mathscr{R}[\mathbf{g}]$ associated with it is simply \mathbb{C} . Indeed we have:

$$\mathcal{M}(\phi') = \mathcal{M}(-\phi) = (\mathbb{C}^{-1})^T \mathcal{M}(\phi) \,\mathbb{C}^{-1} \,. \tag{3.65}$$

By the same token we can compute the duality transformed field strengths:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \bar{F}^{\prime\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} \\ \bar{G}^{\prime}_{\Lambda\,\mu\nu} \end{pmatrix} = \mathbb{C} \begin{pmatrix} \bar{F}^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} \\ \bar{G}_{\Lambda\,\mu\nu} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{G}_{\Lambda\,\mu\nu} \\ -\bar{F}^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(3.66)

After the action of the shift symmetry (3.64a) and the above mentioned redefinition, the resulting FI parameter vector, to be denoted by $\bar{\theta}_M$, has the form:

$$\bar{\theta}_M = \left(\sqrt{\frac{\nu+1}{\nu}}\sqrt{L^{-2} - \alpha^2}, \ \sqrt{\frac{\nu-1}{\nu}}\sqrt{L^{-2} - \alpha^2}, \ \alpha \, s \, \sqrt{\frac{\nu+1}{\nu}}, \ \frac{\alpha}{s} \, \sqrt{\frac{\nu-1}{\nu}}\right). \tag{3.67}$$

We denote by $\bar{\theta}'$ the transformed of $\bar{\theta}$ by \mathbb{C} :

$$\bar{\theta}' = \mathbb{C}\,\bar{\theta}\,,\tag{3.68}$$

and one can verify that

$$V(\bar{\theta}',\phi') = V(\bar{\theta},\phi).$$
(3.69)

Since $\bar{\theta}$ only depends on α , we will simply denote the potential by $V(\alpha, \phi)$. This action, apart from signs, basically amounts in $\bar{\theta}$ to changing $\alpha^2 \to L^{-2} - \alpha^2$. In particular we find:

$$V(\alpha, \phi) = V(\alpha', \phi'), \qquad (3.70)$$

where $\alpha'^2 = L^{-2} - \alpha^2$.

Let us now prove the invariance of the equations of motion under the transformations (3.64b), (3.66) and (3.68). We start from the scalar field equation that reads:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\,\partial_{\mu}(\sqrt{-g}\,\partial^{\mu}\phi) = \frac{1}{4}\,\bar{F}^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu}\,\partial_{\phi}\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi)\,\bar{F}^{\Sigma\,\mu\nu} - \partial_{\phi}V(\alpha,\,\phi)\,. \tag{3.71}$$

We can dualize the vector fields into their magnetic duals, whose field strengths are $G_{\Lambda\mu\nu}$. The field equations in terms of the dual field strengths are obtained from (3.71) simply by expressing, in the equation, $\bar{F}^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ in terms of $\bar{G}_{\Lambda\mu\nu}$, that is $\bar{F}^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} = (\mathcal{I}^{-1})^{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi)^* \bar{G}_{\Sigma\mu\nu}$. We then find:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \partial_{\mu} (\sqrt{-g} \partial^{\mu} \phi) = \frac{1}{4} \bar{G}_{\Lambda \mu \nu} \partial_{\phi} (\mathcal{I}^{-1})^{\Lambda \Sigma} (\phi) \bar{G}_{\Sigma}^{\mu \nu} - \partial_{\phi} V(\alpha, \phi) .$$
(3.72)

This equation can be derived from a "dual action" obtained by adding to (3.21) the term $-\frac{1}{4} \bar{F}^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu} \bar{G}_{\Lambda\rho\sigma} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ and intergating out $\bar{F}^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ in favor of their duals. We can now easily verify that, if the electric solutions

$$\phi(x), F^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu}(x), g_{\mu\nu}(x),$$
 (3.73)

solve the field equations with FI terms defined by the parameter α , then the magnetic configuration

$$\phi'(x) = -\phi(x), \quad \bar{G}'_{\Lambda \,\mu\nu}(x) = -\bar{F}^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu}(x), \quad g'_{\mu\nu}(x) = g_{\mu\nu}(x), \quad (3.74)$$

is a solution with parameter α' . Indeed let us write (3.72) in terms of the primed quantities:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\mu}(\sqrt{-g}\,\partial^{\mu}\phi') = \frac{1}{4}\,\bar{G}'_{\Lambda\mu\nu}\,\partial_{\phi'}(\mathcal{I}^{-1})^{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi')\,\bar{G}'^{\mu\nu}_{\Sigma} - \partial_{\phi'}V(\alpha',\phi')\,. \tag{3.75}$$

Replacing the primed quantities in terms of the unprimed ones, the left hand side together with the derivatives with respect to the scalar on the right hand side, change sign. Using (3.70) and the property $\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(-\phi) = (\mathcal{I}^{-1})^{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi)$ the above equation becomes (3.71) in the fields (3.73), which is satisfied by assumption. The identification $\bar{G}'_{\Lambda\mu\nu}(x) = -\bar{F}^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu}(x)$ means that the magnetic field strengths (apart from a sign) will have the same form as the original electric ones, so that we can relate its magnetic charge parameters P'_i with the original electric ones: $P'_i = -Q_i$. The magnetic solution, has been described in terms electric field strengths $\bar{F}'^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu}$, which are given by:

$$\bar{F}_{\mu\nu}^{\prime\Lambda} = (\mathcal{I}^{-1})^{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi') \, \frac{\sqrt{-g}}{2} \, \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \, \bar{G}_{\Sigma}^{\prime\,\rho\sigma} = -\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi) \, \frac{\sqrt{-g}}{2} \, \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \, \bar{F}^{\Sigma\,\rho\sigma} \,. \tag{3.76}$$

By the same token one can also prove that the Einstein equations in the transformed fields of the magnetic background are just the same equations in the original ones, which is satisfied. The metric is a duality invariant field, see the last of eqs. (3.74). Therefore $g_{\mu\nu}$ in the new solution is simply obtained from that in the original electric one by expressing Q_i in terms of P'_i and α in terms of α' .

3.5 Supersymmetric solutions

Now we want to study supersymmetry configurations for our model, namely configurations satisfying eqs. (C.1) [50]. First it is useful to make a change of coordinates that puts metric (3.25e) in the standard form (see appendix B.2)

$$ds^{2} = e^{2U(r)} dt^{2} - e^{-2U(r)} \left(dr^{2} + e^{2\Psi(r)} d\Sigma_{k}^{2} \right) .$$
(3.77)

This can be achieved through the change of coordinate

$$x(r) = \left(1 + \frac{L^2 \nu}{\eta (r - c)}\right)^{\frac{1}{\nu}},$$
(3.78)

c being a constant.⁵

The new metric functions e^{2U} , $e^{2\Psi}$ are readily found to be $e^{2U(r)} = \Upsilon(x) f(x) \big|_{x=x(r)}$ and $e^{2\Psi(r)} = \Upsilon^2(x) f(x) L^2 \big|_{x=x(r)}$.

3.5.1 Family 1

The scalar field z in the new parametrization has the form

,

$$z = (\theta_2 \xi)^{-\frac{2\nu}{1+\nu}} \left(1 + \frac{L^2 \nu}{\eta (r-c)} \right)^{-1}, \qquad (3.79)$$

while the electric-magnetic charges explicitly read

$$\Gamma^{M} = \begin{pmatrix} m^{\Lambda} \\ e_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{L^{2}}{2\eta} Q_{1} \sqrt{\frac{1+\nu}{\nu}} (\theta_{2} \xi)^{\frac{1-\nu}{1+\nu}} \\ \frac{L^{2}}{2\eta} Q_{2} \sqrt{\frac{-1+\nu}{\nu}} \theta_{2} \xi \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.80)

The solution is supersymmetric if

$$Q_{1} = -Q_{2} \sqrt{\frac{-1+\nu}{1+\nu}} + \frac{k\eta}{\alpha L^{2}} \sqrt{\frac{\nu}{1+\nu}},$$

$$Q_{1} = -Q_{2} \sqrt{\frac{-1+\nu}{1+\nu}} + \frac{k\eta}{\alpha L^{2}(1+\nu)} \sqrt{\frac{-1+\nu}{1+\nu}},$$
(3.81)

$$Q_2 = \left(\frac{k\eta}{2\alpha L^2} + \frac{\alpha L^2 (1+\nu)}{2\eta}\right) \sqrt{\frac{-1+\nu}{\nu}}.$$

3.5.2 Family 2

The scalar field z reads

$$z = (\theta_2 \xi)^{-\frac{2\nu}{1+\nu}} \left(1 + \frac{L^2 \nu}{\eta (r-c)} \right) , \qquad (3.82)$$

while the electric-magnetic charges have the form

$$\Gamma^{M} = \begin{pmatrix} m^{\Lambda} \\ e_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 P_{1} \sqrt{\frac{\nu}{1+\nu}} (\theta_{2} \xi)^{\frac{-1+\nu}{1+\nu}} \\ 2 P_{2} \sqrt{\frac{\nu}{-1+\nu}} (\theta_{2} \xi)^{-1} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.83)

The solution is supersymmetric if

$$P_{1} = -P_{2} \sqrt{\frac{-1+\nu}{1+\nu}} + \frac{kL}{\sqrt{1-\alpha^{2}L^{2}}} \sqrt{\frac{\nu}{1+\nu}},$$

$$P_{2} = \left(\frac{kL}{2\sqrt{1-\alpha^{2}L^{2}}} + \frac{L^{3}(1+\nu)}{2\eta^{2}} \sqrt{1-\alpha^{2}L^{2}}\right) \sqrt{\frac{-1+\nu}{\nu}}.$$
(3.84)

The supersymmetric magnetic condition can be obtained from the supersymmetric electric condition by means of the duality transformation

$$Q_i \to \frac{\eta}{L^2} P_i, \qquad \alpha^2 \to L^{-2} - \alpha^2.$$
 (3.85)

3.5.3 Special case n = 1

The change of coordinate in this special case is given by

$$x(r) = 1 + \frac{L^2}{\eta (r - c)}.$$
(3.86)

The scalar field z in the new parametrization has the form

$$z = \frac{4}{(\rho L)^2} \left(1 - \frac{L^2}{L^2 + \eta \left(r - c \right)} \right) \,, \tag{3.87}$$

while the electric-magnetic charges explicitly read

$$\Gamma^{M} = \begin{pmatrix} m^{\Lambda} \\ e_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} P_{1} \rho L \\ P_{2} \frac{4}{\rho L} \\ Q_{1} \frac{L}{\rho \eta} \\ Q_{2} \frac{\rho L^{3}}{4 \eta} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.88)

The solution is supersymmetric if

$$Q_1 = Q_2, \qquad P_1 = P_2, \qquad P_2 = \frac{kL}{2\cos(\zeta)} - Q_2 \frac{L^2 \tan(\zeta)}{\eta}.$$
 (3.89)

4 Supersymmetric black holes of finite area

4.1 Family 1: BPS electric black holes

We have found that this family has BPS black holes of finite area only when $\alpha^2 = L^{-2}$, namely when the gauging is purely magnetic. In this case the lapse function has a double zero as expected

$$f(x) = \frac{x^{2-2\nu}}{4L^4\nu^4} \left((x^{\nu} - 1)^2 k \eta^2 + L^2 \left(2 x^{\nu} (\nu^2 - 1) + x^{2\nu} (1 - \nu) + \nu + 1 \right) \right)^2,$$

$$f(x_+) = 0 \implies x_{\pm}^{\nu} = \frac{\nu^2 - 1 - k \eta^2 L^{-2}}{\nu - 1 - k \eta^2 L^{-2}} \pm \nu \frac{\sqrt{\nu^2 - 1 - 2k \eta^2 L^{-2}}}{\nu - 1 - k \eta^2 L^{-2}}.$$
(4.1)

It is possible to verify that $x_{\pm}(\nu) = x_{\pm}(-\nu)$, namely, x_{\pm} is an even function of ν . Hence, without loss of generality is possible to make the analysis on the existence of horizons under the assumption that $\nu \geq 1$. Let us remark that the asymptotic region of the spacetime is located at x = 1. Therefore, the region of the spacetime at x > 1 is disconnected from the region at x < 1 and they represent different spacetimes.

Planar black holes. When the horizon is flat (k = 0) the location of the horizon is very simple

$$x_{\pm}^{\nu} = \nu + 1 \pm \nu \frac{\sqrt{\nu^2 - 1}}{\nu - 1}, \qquad (4.2)$$

and it follows that $x_{+}^{\nu} > 0$ and $x_{-}^{\nu} < 0$. We conclude that only x_{+} exists.

Locally hyperbolic black holes. When k = -1, $x_+ > 1$ always exists while $0 < x_- < 1$ exists provided

$$x_{-} > 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \eta^2 L^{-2} > \nu + 1.$$
 (4.3)

Spherically symmetric black holes. For spherical black holes, k = 1, only x_+ exists:

$$\infty > x_{+} > \nu + 1 + \nu \sqrt{\frac{\nu + 1}{\nu - 1}} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \nu - 1 > \eta^{2} L^{-2} > 0.$$
(4.4)

Supersymmetric thermodynamics. From the BPS conditions (3.81) we find that the physical charges and electric potentials for the supersymmetric black hole solutions are

$$q_{1}^{\rm BPS} = \pm \frac{L^{2} \sigma_{k}}{8\pi G} \left(\frac{k}{2L} + \frac{L(1-\nu)}{2\eta^{2}} \right) \sqrt{\frac{\nu+1}{\nu}},$$

$$\Phi_{1}^{\rm BPS} = \pm \left(\frac{k\eta}{2L} + \frac{L(1-\nu)}{2\eta} \right) \frac{x_{+}^{\nu} - 1}{\nu} \sqrt{\frac{\nu+1}{\nu}},$$

$$q_{2}^{\rm BPS} = \pm \frac{L^{2} \sigma_{k}}{8\pi G} \left(\frac{k}{2L} + \frac{L(1+\nu)}{2\eta^{2}} \right) \sqrt{\frac{\nu-1}{\nu}},$$

$$\Phi_{2}^{\rm BPS} = \pm \left(\frac{k\eta}{2L} + \frac{L(1+\nu)}{2\eta} \right) \frac{1 - x_{+}^{-\nu}}{\nu} \sqrt{\frac{\nu-1}{\nu}},$$
(4.5)

where we have set $\alpha = \pm L^{-1}$. The mass of the electric BPS black holes is given by

$$M_{\rm E}^{\rm BPS} = \frac{L^4 \,\sigma_k}{8\pi G} \,\frac{\nu^2 - 1}{3 \,\eta^3} \,. \tag{4.6}$$

As expected, these quantities indeed satisfy the extremality condition

$$\delta M_{\rm E}^{\rm BPS} = \Phi_1^{\rm BPS} \,\delta q_1^{\rm BPS} + \Phi_2^{\rm BPS} \,\delta q_2^{\rm BPS} \,. \tag{4.7}$$

4.2 Family 2: BPS magnetic black holes

Again, we shall consider only the case $\nu > 1$. This family has BPS black holes of finite area only when $\alpha^2 = 0$, namely when the gauging is purely electric. In this case the metric of the magnetic solution exactly coincides with the metric of the electric solutions. Hence the analysis of the location of the horizons is exactly the same. The extremality of the magnetic solutions is the same as for the electric solutions when the electric charges and potentials are interchanged by their magnetic counterparts.

5 $\mathcal{N} = 8$ truncations

In this section we briefly discuss the embedding of our models within maximal four-dimensional supergravity.⁶

⁶Only in this section we shall denote by Λ , Σ the indices labelling the 28 vectors of the maximal theory; by $\lambda, \sigma = 1, 2$ those of the two vectors surviving the truncation; by M, N the symplectic indices of the 56 electric and magnetic charges; by $m, n = 1, \ldots, 4$ the symplectic index labelling the two electric and two magnetic charges in the truncated model. The corresponding indices in the new, ω -rotated symplectic frame are distinguished from those in the original frame by a hat.

5.1 Uncharged case

The original SO(8) gauging of D = 4, $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity [32, 33] and its generalizations to non-compact/non-semisimple gauge groups CSO(p,q,r), p + q + r = 8, [58, 59], were recently shown to be part of a much broader class of gauged maximal theories [34–38], also, somewhat improperly, referred to as "dyonic" gaugings, see [51, 52] for a review. The infinitely many theories we have described so far contain all the possible one-dilaton consistent truncations of the ω -deformed SO(8) gauged maximal supergravities. To see this let us recall the main facts about these theories which are relevant to our discussion.

The field content of maximal supergravity consists of the graviton, 8 gravitini, 28 vector fields, 56 spin 1/2 fields and 70 scalars. In the dyonic models with gauge group SO(8), the 28 generators of this group are gauged by the 28 vector fields in a symplectic frame which is related to the one of [32, 33], in which the group SL(8, \mathbb{R}) has a diagonal symplectic embedding, by an SO(2) transformation parametrized by an angle ω . The physically independent values of ω lie within the interval $0 \le \omega \le \pi/8$, $\omega = 0$ corresponding to the original theory by de Wit and Nicolai.

The 70 scalar fields parameterize the coset $E_{7(7)}/SU(8)$. One can choose a parametrization of this manifold which is covariant under SU(8). With this choice the scalars split into the representations 35_c and 35_v of the gauge group SO(8). The former can be truncated out, while the latter scalars span the submanifold SL(8, \mathbb{R})/SO(8). The local SO(8) transformations can be used to diagonalize the coset representative and thus to further truncate the theory to the seven scalars parameterizing the non compact Cartan subalgebra of SL(8, \mathbb{R}).⁷ Upon truncation to gravity and scalar field sector, we are led to consider the following action [60, 61]:

$$I(g_{\mu\nu},\vec{\phi}) = \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^4x \,\sqrt{-g} \,\left[-\frac{R}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial\vec{\phi}\right)^2 - V(\vec{\phi}) \right] \,, \tag{5.1}$$

where $\vec{\phi} = (\phi_i)$, with i = 1, ..., 8 and $\sum_{i=1}^8 \phi_i = 0$. The potential is given by

$$V(\vec{\phi}) = -\frac{g^2}{32} \left[\cos^2(\omega) \left(\left(\sum_{i=1}^8 X_i \right)^2 - 2\sum_{i=1}^8 X_i^2 \right) + \sin^2(\omega) \left(\left(\sum_{i=1}^8 X_i^{-1} \right)^2 - 2\sum_{i=1}^8 X_i^{-2} \right) \right], \tag{5.2}$$

where

$$X_i = e^{2\phi_i}, \qquad \prod_{i=1}^8 X_i = 1.$$
 (5.3)

⁷To see this it is useful to adopt a parametrization of the coset $SL(8, \mathbb{R})/SO(8)$ in terms of 28 Euler angles (ξ_{α}) parametrizing SO(8) and seven independent non-compact "radii" $\vec{\phi} = (\phi_i)$, with $i = 1, \ldots, 8$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{8} \phi_i = 0$. This amounts to choosing a coset prepresentative for the manifold of the form $\mathbb{L} = \mathbb{L}_{SO(8)} \mathbb{L}_{\mathcal{C}}$, where $\mathbb{L}_{SO(8)}(\xi)$ is an element of SO(8) while $\mathbb{L}_{\mathcal{C}}(\vec{\phi})$ belongs to $e^{\mathcal{C}} = O(1, 1)^7$. The factor $\mathbb{L}_{SO(8)}(\xi)$ can be disposed of by a gauge transformation: $\mathbb{L} \to \mathbb{L}' = \mathbb{L}_{\mathcal{C}}$, $A^{\Lambda}_{\mu}T_{\Lambda} \to A'^{\Lambda}_{\mu}\mathbb{L}^{-1}_{SO(8)}T_{\Lambda}\mathbb{L}_{SO(8)} - \frac{1}{g}\mathbb{L}^{-1}_{SO(8)}\partial_{\mu}\mathbb{L}_{SO(8)}$, where T_{Λ} are the SO(8) gauge generators, $\Lambda = 1, \ldots, 28$. By further setting $A'^{\Lambda}_{\mu} = 0$ we truncate the bosonic sector to the seven scalar fields ϕ_i only.

Let us consider now a single scalar field reduction preserving $SO(p) \times SO(8-p)$. This is effected through the following identification:

$$\phi_1 = \dots = \phi_p = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \sigma \phi, \qquad \phi_{p+1} = \dots = \phi_8 = -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \frac{\phi}{\sigma}, \qquad (5.4)$$

where we have defined:

$$\sigma = \sqrt{\frac{8-p}{p}} = \sqrt{\frac{\nu-1}{\nu+1}}, \qquad p = \frac{4(\nu+1)}{\nu}.$$
(5.5)

With the above choice we have:

$$X_1 = \dots = X_p = X := e^{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sigma\phi}, \qquad X_{p+1} = \dots = X_8 = Y := e^{-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\frac{\phi}{\sigma}}, \qquad (5.6)$$

and the previous action (5.1) reduces to the one we are studying in this paper. The action is invariant under $\sigma \to 1/\sigma$, $\phi \to -\phi$ and $p \to 8-p$. This action, consistent truncation of the ω -rotated SO(8)-gauged maximal supergravity, coincides, in the absence of vector fields, with the action (3.21) upon the following identification:

$$g = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{L}, \qquad \cos(\omega) = L \alpha, \qquad \sin(\omega) = \sqrt{1 - L^2 \alpha^2}. \tag{5.7}$$

Changing ϕ into $-\phi$ in (5.6), the above identifications change correspondingly:

$$g = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{L}$$
, $\sin(\omega) = L \alpha$, $\cos(\omega) = \sqrt{1 - L^2 \alpha^2}$. (5.8)

From the above relation between p and ν , we conclude that the single scalar field models considered in this work, if all vector fields are set to zero, coincide with truncations of the ω -deformed SO(8) gauged maximal supergravity to the singlet sector with respect to the following subgroups of SO(8) gauge group:

$$\nu = \frac{4}{3} \quad \rightarrow \quad \text{SO}(7) ,$$

$$\nu = 2 \quad \rightarrow \quad \text{SO}(6) \times \text{SO}(2) ,$$

$$\nu = 4 \quad \rightarrow \quad \text{SO}(5) \times \text{SO}(3) ,$$

$$\nu = \infty \quad \rightarrow \quad \text{SO}(4) \times \text{SO}(4) .$$

(5.9)

The values $\nu = \infty$ or $\nu = \pm 2$ correspond to models which can be embedded in the STU truncation of the SO(8) gauged $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity. Therefore the black hole solutions discussed in this work, in the absence of electric and magnetic charges, can all be embedded maximal supergravity. Since the SO(8) gauged maximal supergravity can be uplifted to D = 11 supergravity only for $\omega = 0$ [62], only for $L \alpha = 0$ or equivalently for $L \alpha = \pm 1$ our solutions can be embedded in the eleven dimensional theory through maximal supergravity, by means of the formulas presented in [60, 61].

5.2 Charged case

In this section we show how the charged solutions can be embedded in the dyonic SO(8) gauged maximal supergravity.

The $\nu = 4$ case. Let us focus first on the $\omega = 0$ case and eventually discuss the more general one. The solutions describe gravity coupled to one scalar field and two vector fields. When identified with fields in the maximally supersymmetric model, the scalar and the two vectors should not excite the other fields in the model, such as the scalar fields in the $\mathbf{35}_{c}$ of SO(8). The latter parametrize $E_{7(7)}$ generators which, in the symplectic frame we are working in, are off-diagonal. This means that, in the kinetic Lagrangian of the vector fields, only the $\mathcal{R}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ matrix has a linear dependence on those scalars, so that the vector fields can source the scalars in the $\mathbf{35}_{c}$ only through the term $\mathcal{R}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Lambda} \wedge F^{\Sigma}$. We thus require, in our solution, the condition:

$$F^{\Lambda} \wedge F^{\Sigma} = 0, \qquad (5.10)$$

in order to consistently keep, in the maximal theory, the scalars in the $\mathbf{35}_{c}$ equal to zero. Of the remaining scalar fields in the $\mathbf{35}_{v}$ of SO(8), as explained in footnote 7, 28 are gauged away so that we are left with the seven independent scalar fields $\vec{\phi} = (\phi_i)$, with $i = 1, \ldots, 8$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{8} \phi_i = 0$, parameterizing the Cartan subalgebra of $\mathfrak{e}_{7(7)}$ (Lie algebra of $E_{7(7)}$).

Next we want to further truncate the theory to the scalar field ϕ which is singlet with respect to the subgroup SO(5) × SO(3) of SO(8). In the absence of vector fields this truncation was illustrated in the previous section. When the solution is charged, on the other hand, the two vector fields involved in it should be identified with two of the 28 vectors on the maximal model which do not source the six scalar fields among $\vec{\phi}$ that we wish to set to zero. Before working this condition out let us observe that any twodimensional subgroup of SO(8) is abelian, so that the two generators J_1 , J_2 gauged by A^1_{μ} and A^2_{μ} must commute. Another consistency condition on J_1 and J_2 is that the minimal couplings of A^1_{μ} and A^2_{μ} to the scalar fields, once these are restricted to ϕ , must vanish. This amounts to requiring the Killing vectors describing the action of J_1 and J_2 on the scalars, as isometry generators of the scalar manifold, to be zero. Let $\mathbb{L}(\phi)$ be the coset representative restricted to the scalar ϕ only. One can show that the Killing vectors associated with J_1 and J_2 are zero, once we restrict the scalars to ϕ , if, and only if, the following condition on the 56-dimensional symplectic representation of $J_{\lambda} = (J_1, J_2)$ and of $\mathbb{L}(\phi)$ holds:

$$\mathbb{L}(\phi)^{-1} J_{\lambda} \mathbb{L}(\phi) - \mathbb{L}(\phi) J_{\lambda} \mathbb{L}(\phi)^{-1} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (5.11)$$

which amounts to requiring that J_{λ} ($\lambda = 1, 2$) commute with the Cartan generator parameterized by ϕ .

Let us now discuss the consistency of the truncation of the dilatonic scalars $\vec{\phi}$ to ϕ . To this end, let us write $\vec{\phi}$ as follows:

$$\begin{split} \phi_1 &= -\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{3}{10}} \phi + \varphi_1 \,, \qquad \phi_2 = -\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{3}{10}} \phi + \varphi_2 \,, \qquad \phi_3 = -\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{3}{10}} \phi + \varphi_3 \,, \\ \phi_4 &= -\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{3}{10}} \phi + \varphi_4 \,, \qquad \phi_5 = -\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{3}{10}} \phi - \sum_{k=1}^4 \varphi_k \,, \qquad \phi_6 = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{5}{6}} \phi + \varphi_5 \,, \qquad (5.12) \\ \phi_7 &= \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{5}{6}} \phi + \varphi_6 \,, \qquad \phi_8 = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{5}{6}} \phi - \varphi_5 - \varphi_6 \,. \end{split}$$

Writing the SO(8) generators as $T_{IJ} = -T_{JI}$ (I, J = 1, ..., 8), the equations for the scalars φ_{ℓ} ($\ell = 1, ..., 6$) are satisfied when $\varphi_{\ell} \equiv 0$, and the scalar ϕ enters the kinetic terms of the vector fields as in (3.24) with $\nu = 4$ if J_1 and J_2 are chosen as follows:

$$J_1 = \sqrt{\frac{2}{5}} \left(T_{12} + \frac{\varepsilon_1}{\sqrt{2}} T_{34} + \frac{\varepsilon_2}{\sqrt{2}} T_{35} + \frac{\varepsilon_3}{\sqrt{2}} T_{45} \right), \qquad J_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \left(T_{67} + \varepsilon_4 J_{68} + \varepsilon_5 J_{78} \right), \tag{5.13}$$

where $\varepsilon_{\ell}^2 = 1$. This identifies the two vector fields A_{μ}^1 and A_{μ}^2 out of A_{μ}^{IJ} :

$$\frac{1}{2} A^{IJ}_{\mu} T_{IJ} = A^{1}_{\mu} J_{1} + A^{2}_{\mu} J_{2} , \qquad (5.14)$$

so that the two field strengths $\bar{F}^1_{\mu\nu}$, $\bar{F}^2_{\mu\nu}$ in (3.24) are identified with the $F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu}$ of the maximal theory as follows:

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{12} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{5}} \bar{F}_{\mu\nu}^{1}, \quad F_{\mu\nu}^{34} = \frac{\varepsilon_1}{\sqrt{5}} \bar{F}_{\mu\nu}^{1}, \quad F_{\mu\nu}^{35} = \frac{\varepsilon_2}{\sqrt{5}} \bar{F}_{\mu\nu}^{1}, \quad F_{\mu\nu}^{45} = \frac{\varepsilon_3}{\sqrt{5}} \bar{F}_{\mu\nu}^{1},$$

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{67} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \bar{F}_{\mu\nu}^{2}, \quad F_{\mu\nu}^{68} = \frac{\varepsilon_4}{\sqrt{3}} \bar{F}_{\mu\nu}^{2}, \quad F_{\mu\nu}^{78} = \frac{\varepsilon_5}{\sqrt{3}} \bar{F}_{\mu\nu}^{2}.$$
(5.15)

When $\omega \neq 0$, the same generators T_{IJ} are gauged by linear combinations of A_{μ}^{IJ} and $A_{IJ\mu}$ of the form

$$\hat{A}_{\mu}^{IJ} = \cos(\omega) A_{\mu}^{IJ} - \sin(\omega) A_{IJ\mu}, \qquad (5.16)$$

which means that the gauging of SO(8) is performed in a different symplectic frame in which the electric vector fields are no longer A^{IJ}_{μ} but rather \hat{A}^{IJ}_{μ} . Let us denote by $\hat{A}^{\hat{M}}_{\mu} = (\hat{A}^{\hat{\Lambda}}_{\mu}, \hat{A}_{\hat{\Lambda}\mu})$, where $\hat{A}^{\hat{\Lambda}}_{\mu} = \hat{A}^{IJ}_{\mu}$, the vector fields and their magnetic duals in the new symplectic frame, and by $A^{M}_{\mu} = (A^{\Lambda}_{\mu}, A_{\Lambda\mu})$ the same vectors in the old frame. Let $\mathbb{F}^{\hat{M}}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\hat{A}^{\hat{M}}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\hat{A}^{\hat{M}}_{\mu}$ and $\mathbb{F}^{M}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A^{M}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A^{M}_{\mu}$ be the corresponding field strengths. We have the following relation:

$$\mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu}^{\hat{M}} = E_M{}^{\hat{M}} \mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu}^M, \qquad (5.17)$$

where

$$E_M{}^{\hat{M}} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\omega) \, \mathbb{1}_{28 \times 28} & \sin(\omega) \, \mathbb{1}_{28 \times 28} \\ -\sin(\omega) \, \mathbb{1}_{28 \times 28} & \cos(\omega) \, \mathbb{1}_{28 \times 28} \end{pmatrix} \,. \tag{5.18}$$

In the new frame, the parameter ω will also enter the kinetic matrices $\mathcal{I}_{\hat{\Lambda}\hat{\Sigma}}(\phi,\omega)$, $\mathcal{R}_{\hat{\Lambda}\hat{\Sigma}}(\phi,\omega)$. These matrices are indeed defined, through equation (3.57), as components of the new symplectic matrix $\mathcal{M}_{\hat{M}\hat{N}}(\phi,\omega)$ which is expressed in terms of the ω -independent $\mathcal{M}_{MN}(\phi)$ in the original frame through the relation:

$$\mathcal{M}_{\hat{M}\hat{N}}(\phi,\omega) = E^{-1}(\omega)_{\hat{M}}{}^M E^{-1}(\omega)_{\hat{N}}{}^N \mathcal{M}_{MN}(\phi) \,.$$
(5.19)

Upon truncating scalar and vector fields as described above, the two vectors will only enter the bosonic action through the corresponding field strengths. Written in the new symplectic frame, the kinetic terms of $\hat{A}^{\hat{\lambda}}_{\mu} = (\hat{A}^1_{\mu}, \hat{A}^2_{\mu})$ will depend on the ω parameter through the restrictions $\mathcal{I}_{\hat{\lambda}\hat{\sigma}}(\phi,\omega)$, $\mathcal{R}_{\hat{\lambda}\hat{\sigma}}(\phi,\omega)$ of $\mathcal{I}_{\hat{\Lambda}\hat{\Sigma}}(\phi,\omega)$, $\mathcal{R}_{\hat{\Lambda}\hat{\Sigma}}(\phi,\omega)$ to the two vectors. This dependence can, however, be undone at the level of the bosonic field equations and Bianchi identities since the latter depend on $\mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu}^{\hat{m}} = (F_{\mu\nu}^{\hat{\lambda}}, G_{\hat{\lambda}\mu\nu})$ only in symplectic-invariant contractions with the matrix $\mathcal{M}_{\hat{m}\hat{n}}(\phi,\omega)$ and its derivatives, see (3.58), so that the dependence on ω of the terms involving the vector field strengths, can be disposed of through a redefinition of the latter which amounts to writing them in terms of the field strengths $\mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu}^m$ in the original frame (consisting of $\bar{F}_{\mu\nu}^1$, $\bar{F}_{\mu\nu}^2$ and their magnetic duals), through the matrix $E.^8$ Upon this redefinition, the bosonic field equations of the truncated model coincide with those obtained from the action (3.24), with $\nu = 4$, provided we identify:

$$g = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{L}, \qquad \sin(\omega) = L \alpha, \qquad \cos(\omega) = \sqrt{1 - L^2 \alpha^2}, \qquad (5.20)$$

or, changing ϕ into $-\phi$,

$$g = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{L}$$
, $\cos(\omega) = L \alpha$, $\sin(\omega) = \sqrt{1 - L^2 \alpha^2}$. (5.21)

We still require, in this new symplectic frame, the constraint (5.10) as a sufficient condition for the consistent truncation of the $\mathcal{N} = 8$ pseudoscalar fields in the $\mathbf{35}_{c}$.

The embedding of the $\nu = 4/3$ model in the maximal theory is more subtle and will be dealt with in a future work. In the remaining cases $\nu = \infty$ or $\nu = \pm 2$, our solutions can be indeed extended to charged solutions within $\mathcal{N} = 8$, SO(8) gauged supergravity, within the bosonic part of the STU truncation of it.

All the non-supersymmetric solutions presented here have a non-trivial ω -parameter, and we believe they are all new except the $\nu = \pm 2$ and the $\nu = \infty$ case, which were found in the non-dyonic case by Duff and Liu (see appendix A). We have also found that in the supersymmetric limit the ω -parameter is fixed: therefore, it is plausible that these solutions are BPS black holes of the usual de Wit-Nicolai maximal supergravity and can be uplifted to 11 dimensions. As far as the regular supersymmetric solutions are concerned (section 4), we have seen that the regularity condition $\alpha^2 = L^{-2}$ can be satisfied by setting $\omega = 0$, see eqs. (5.21). This implies that those black holes are also solutions to the original De Wit and Nicolai maximal supergravity, whose embedding in the D = 11 supergravity is well known. This also allows for an eleven-dimensional description of the same solutions.

6 Conclusions

In this article we have studied a $\mathcal{N} = 2$ prepotential that contains all the single dilaton truncations of $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity with a possible dyonic gauging. By generalizing our previous results, we were able to construct electrically and magnetically charged black hole solutions with their corresponding supersymmetric limits. We exploited the non-trivial transformation of the FI parameters under electromagnetic duality to connect the electric and the magnetic solutions. We were able to recover the known results in the case of the STU model, which is the case of n = 1 and $\nu = \pm 2$. All the other charged solutions are new. We also constructed a new supersymmetric truncation of the maximal supergravity

⁸More precisely though the 4×4 matrix $E_m{}^{\hat{m}}$, which has the same form as $E_M{}^{\hat{M}}$, though written in terms of 2×2 blocks.

and found non-extremal and supersymmetric black holes in this new sector. These black holes can be uplifted to higher dimensions and can be interpreted as new M2-brane and D2-brane with a regular supersymmetric limit. It is important to emphasize that the fact that, for certain models, we did not derive, in our analysis, an embedding in D = 11supergravity, does not rule out the existence for them of an UV completion in superstring or M-theory. The definition of such uplift will be object of future investigations.

We expect that these infinitely many black holes can be a playground to test ideas of holography, microscopic state counting and condensed matter, as well as a small step towards the characterization of all the supersymmetric solutions of M-theory.

Acknowledgments

We thank Adolfo Guarino for valuable discussions. We would like to thank the support of Proyecto de cooperación internacional 2019/13231-7 FAPESP/ANID. The research of AA is supported in part by the Fondecyt Grants 1210635 and 1181047 and Banco Santander through Universidad de Oviedo. The research of DA is supported in part by the Fondecyt Grant 1200986.

A Recovering known cases

A.1 Duff-Liu

One of the first attempts to construct supersymmetric black holes in gauged supergravities was done by Duff and Liu in [39]. While all their supersymmetric solutions are singular, we found that some of their non-extremal solutions coincide with ours. Let us describe this.

The theory considered here is the well known STU model of gauged $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supergravity (with no axions), described by the action:

$$\mathscr{S} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4 x \sqrt{-g} \left(-R + \sum_{m=1}^3 \left[\frac{1}{2} (\partial \varphi_m)^2 + \frac{2}{L^2} \cosh(\varphi_m) \right] - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^4 e^{\vec{a}_i \cdot \vec{\varphi}} (F^{(i)})^2 \right),$$

$$\vec{\varphi} = (\varphi_1, \varphi_2, \varphi_3), \quad \vec{a}_1 = (1, 1, 1), \quad \vec{a}_2 = (1, -1, -1), \quad \vec{a}_3 = (-1, 1, -1), \quad \vec{a}_4 = (-1, -1, 1).$$

(A.1)

The electric Duff-Liu static black hole solution can be written as follows:

$$ds^{2} = \frac{f}{\sqrt{H}} dt^{2} - \sqrt{H} \left(\frac{dr^{2}}{f} + r^{2} d\Sigma_{k} \right), \qquad f = k + \frac{r^{2}}{L^{2}} H - \frac{\mu}{r},$$

$$H = H_{1} H_{2} H_{3} H_{4}, \qquad H_{i} = 1 + \frac{S_{i} \mu}{r}, \qquad A^{(i)} = \pm \frac{\sqrt{S_{i} + k S_{i}^{2}} \mu}{r + S_{i} \mu} dt, \qquad (A.2)$$

$$\varphi_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \ln \left(\frac{H_{1} H_{2}}{H_{3} H_{4}} \right), \qquad \varphi_{2} = \frac{1}{2} \ln \left(\frac{H_{1} H_{3}}{H_{2} H_{4}} \right), \qquad \varphi_{3} = \frac{1}{2} \ln \left(\frac{H_{1} H_{4}}{H_{2} H_{3}} \right).$$

The T^3 model. The well known single scalar field truncation when all scalar fields are equal, the T^3 model, is retrieved for $S_2 = S_3 = S_4$, in which case $\varphi_1 = \varphi_2 = \varphi_3$. Let us define the scalar field ϕ

$$\varphi_1 = \varphi_2 = \varphi_3 = -\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\phi, \qquad (A.3)$$

and the canonically normalized gauge fields $F^1 = \sqrt{2} \bar{F}^1$ and $F^2 = \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} \bar{F}^2$. Then the STU model reduces to the T^3 model

$$\mathscr{S} = \int d^4x \,\sqrt{-g} \left(-\frac{R}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \,(\partial\phi)^2 + \frac{3}{L^2} \cosh\left(\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\phi\right) - \frac{1}{4} e^{-3\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\phi} \left(\bar{F}^1\right)^2 - \frac{1}{4} e^{\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\phi} \left(\bar{F}^2\right)^2 \right),\tag{A.4}$$

which exactly coincides with our model for $\nu = -2$. Moreover, our solutions indeed coincide with Duff-Liu in the $\nu = -2$ case, as it can be seen from the change of coordinates

$$x^2 = \frac{H_1}{H_2},$$
 (A.5)

and the following reparametrization of the integration constants:

$$\eta = \pm \frac{2L^2}{\mu(S_1 - S_2)}, \qquad Q_1 = \pm \sqrt{2} \, \frac{\sqrt{S_1 + k S_1^2}}{S_1 - S_2}, \qquad Q_2 = \pm \sqrt{6} \, \frac{\sqrt{S_2 + k S_2^2}}{S_1 - S_2}. \tag{A.6}$$

Duff and Liu found that these solutions are naked singularities in the BPS limit. Their limit is achieved by redefining $S_i = \lambda_i \mu^{-1}$ and then taking $\mu \to 0$. This makes the lapse function positive definite for spherical and planar horizons, hence one finds a naked singularity. The ansatz of the Killing spinors of Duff and Liu includes dependence on the coordinates of $d\Sigma_k$. This is the reason of the singular BPS limit, as described in detail in [15], while the Cacciatori-Klemm Killing spinors has only non-trivial radial dependence.

The n = 1 or $\nu = \infty$ model. Here we set $S_1 = S_3$ and $S_2 = S_4$, in which case $\varphi_1 = \varphi_3 = 0$. Our scalar field ϕ is

$$\varphi_2 = \sqrt{2}\,\phi\,,\tag{A.7}$$

and the canonical normalized gauge fields are $F^1 = \overline{F}^1$ and $F^2 = \overline{F}^2$. Then the STU model reduces to the n = 1 model

$$\mathscr{S} = \int d^4x \,\sqrt{-g} \left(-\frac{R}{2} + \frac{1}{2} (\partial\phi)^2 + \frac{1}{L^2} \left(2 + \cosh(\sqrt{2}\,\phi) \right) - \frac{1}{4} e^{\sqrt{2}\,\phi} \left(\bar{F}^1\right)^2 - \frac{1}{4} e^{-\sqrt{2}\,\phi} \left(\bar{F}^2\right)^2 \right), \tag{A.8}$$

which indeed coincides with our model for n = 1. Our solutions coincide with Duff-Liu in this case, provided either the magnetic charge or the electric charge is set to zero. This follows from the change of coordinates

$$x = \frac{H_2}{H_1},\tag{A.9}$$

with the following reparametrization of the integration constants,

$$\eta = \pm \frac{L^2}{\mu(S_1 - S_2)}, \qquad Q_1 = \pm \frac{\sqrt{S_1 + k S_1^2}}{S_1 - S_2}, \qquad Q_2 = \pm \frac{\sqrt{S_2 + k S_2^2}}{S_1 - S_2}, \qquad (A.10)$$

and setting the magnetic charges to zero. We would like to remark that this connection with Duff and Liu implies that these solutions can also be obtained by adequate truncation of those of Chow and Compere [18].

A.2 Cacciatori-Klemm

The T^3 model. The first example of genuine supersymmetric black holes in AdS₄ was found by Cacciatori and Klemm [13]. Let us discuss the supersymmetric solution following the lines of section 7 of [15], we shall refer to this reference as "HV" below. This supersymmetric solution is spherically symmetric and purely magnetic and can be obtained from our prepotential (3.1) with $n = \frac{1}{2}$, corresponding to $\nu = -2$, together with $\theta_M = (\xi_0, \xi_1, 0, 0)$ Fayet-Iliopoulos terms and replacing $V \to g^2 V$ in the bosonic Lagrangian (2.1).

The explicit solution for the dilaton trucation $z = \exp(\lambda \phi)$, in terms of canonically normalized fields (using an action with form (3.24)), turns out to be

$$\begin{split} \phi(r) &= \frac{1}{\lambda} \log \left(\frac{\xi_0}{\xi_1} \frac{3r \pm 4\beta_1 \xi_1}{r \mp 4\beta_1 \xi_1} \right) + \frac{1}{\lambda} \log \left(\frac{\xi_1}{3\xi_0} \right) \,, \\ \bar{F}_{\theta\varphi}^1 &= \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{3\xi_0}{\xi_1} \right)^{\frac{3}{4}} \left(\frac{1}{4g\xi_0} + \frac{128 g \beta_1^2 \xi_1^2}{3\xi_0} \right) \sin(\theta) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{3\xi_0}{\xi_1} \right)^{\frac{3}{4}} \sqrt{8} \ 2 \, p^0 \, \sin(\theta) \,, \\ \bar{F}_{\theta\varphi}^2 &= \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{3\xi_1}{\xi_0} \right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{3}{4g\xi_1} - \frac{128 g \beta_1^2 \xi_1}{3} \right) \sin(\theta) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{3\xi_1}{\xi_0} \right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \sqrt{8} \ 2 \, p^1 \, \sin(\theta) \,, \\ N &= \left(\sqrt{8} \, g \, r + \frac{1 - \frac{32(\sqrt{8} g \beta_1 \xi_1)^2}{2\sqrt{8} g \, r}}{2\sqrt{8} g \, r} \right)^2 \,, \qquad H = \frac{(3 \, r \pm 4\beta_1 \xi_1)^3 \, (r \mp 4\beta_1 \xi_1)}{4\xi_0 \xi_1^3 r^4} \,, \\ ds^2 &= \gamma^2 \, \frac{N}{\sqrt{H}} \, dt^2 - \sqrt{H} \left(\frac{dr^2}{N} + r^2 \, d\Sigma_1 \right) \,, \end{split}$$

with $\lambda = \sqrt{8/3}$, to make the scalar field canonically normalized, and where we have included the factor γ^2 in the g_{tt} lapse function, to take into account possibly different time normalizations. Here p^0 and p^1 are the one given in eq. (7.3) of HV. It should be taken into account that the coupling constants are related as $g = g^{\text{US}} = g^{\text{HV}}/\sqrt{8}$. The magnetic charges are multiplied by different factors that we have included with different colours to understand how to match these solutions. The factors in brown can be traced back to the fact that we use canonically normalized fields, these factors appearing in equations (3.23). The factors in green comes from the fact that the prepotentials are related as $\mathcal{F}^{\text{US}} = \mathcal{F}^{\text{HV}}/8$, which implies that the matrix of the gauge-field couplings are related as $\mathcal{I}^{\text{US}} = \mathcal{I}^{\text{HV}}/8$. We also note that the Lagrangian of HV has a different normalization of the gauge fields than ours; however, they use the convention $2 F_{\mu\nu}^{\Lambda} = \partial_{\mu} A_{\nu}^{\Lambda} - \partial_{\nu} A_{\mu}^{\Lambda}$, which cancels this difference when comparing the U(1) connections. Finally, there is a factor 2 that we were not able to trace back. We remark that we were able to verify that the configuration (A.11) is a solution of the canonically normalized Lagrangian of our paper with

$$L = \frac{3^{\frac{3}{4}}}{\sqrt{2}\,\xi_1^{\frac{3}{4}}\,\xi_0^{\frac{1}{4}}g^{\rm HV}} = \frac{3^{\frac{3}{4}}}{4\,\xi_1^{\frac{3}{4}}\,\xi_0^{\frac{1}{4}}g^{\rm US}}.$$
 (A.12)

These quantities satisfy the first our BPS conditions (3.84)

$$P_1 + \sqrt{3} P_2 - \sqrt{2} L = 0.$$
 (A.13)

Let us match this solution with the solution given in the body of our paper. From the equality of the canonically normalized scalar fields we find that

$$-\frac{2}{\lambda}\log x = \frac{1}{\lambda}\log\left(\frac{\xi_0}{\xi_1}\frac{3r\pm 4\beta_1\xi_1}{r\mp 4\beta_1\xi_1}\right) + \frac{1}{\lambda}\log\left(\frac{\xi_1}{3\xi_0}\right),\qquad(A.14)$$

which yields x = x(r). From here we find that our $g_{\theta\theta}$ is indeed $r^2 H(r)$ if

$$\eta^{2} = \frac{27\sqrt{3}}{2^{7} \xi_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} \xi_{1}^{\frac{7}{2}} \beta_{1}^{2} (g^{\rm HV})^{4}} = \frac{27\sqrt{3}}{2^{13} \xi_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} \xi_{1}^{\frac{7}{2}} \beta_{1}^{2} (g^{\rm US})^{4}}.$$
 (A.15)

Now we can verify our second BPS condition with $\alpha = 0$ (3.84):

$$P_2 - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2\sqrt{2}}L + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2\sqrt{2}}\frac{L^3}{\eta^2} = 0.$$
 (A.16)

Finally, we have that the metrics are equal provided the product of the lapse function and $g_{\theta\theta}$ is the same in both cases:

$$-g_{tt} g_{\theta\theta} = \gamma^2 N r^2 = \Upsilon(x)^2 f(x) L^2.$$
 (A.17)

From our supersymmetric solution it follows that

$$\gamma \sqrt{8} g r^2 + \gamma \frac{1 - \frac{32(\sqrt{8}g\beta_1\xi_1)^2}{3}}{2\sqrt{8}g} = \Upsilon(x) \frac{x^{1-\nu}}{2L\nu^2} \left((x^{\nu} - 1)^2 \eta^2 + L^2 \left(2x^{\nu}(\nu^2 - 1) + x^{2\nu}(1-\nu) + \nu + 1 \right) \right), \tag{A.18}$$

where we took advantage from the fact that N and f(x) are perfect squares. We find both metrics are the same at $\nu = -2$ by fixing

$$\gamma = \frac{3^{\frac{3}{4}}}{\sqrt{2}\,\xi_0^{\frac{1}{4}}\,\xi_1^{\frac{3}{4}}}\,.\tag{A.19}$$

B Kähler geometry and effective action

B.1 Special geometry

A special Kähler manifold \mathcal{M}_{SK} is the class of target spaces spanned by the complex scalar fields in the vector multiplets of an $\mathcal{N} = 2$ four-dimensional supergravity [63–65].

The geometry of \mathscr{M}_{SK} can be described in terms of an *holomorphic section* $\Omega^M(z^i)$ of the characteristic bundle defined over it, which is the product of a symplectic-bundle and a holomorphic line-bundle. The components of $\Omega^M(z^i)$ are written as

$$\Omega^{M} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{X}^{\Lambda} \\ \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \Lambda = 0, \dots, n_{v}, \qquad (B.1)$$

while the Kähler potential and the Kähler metric have the following general form

$$\mathcal{K}(z,\bar{z}) = -\log\left[i\,\overline{\Omega}^T\,\mathbb{C}\,\Omega\right] = -\log\left[i\left(\bar{\mathcal{X}}^\Lambda\,\mathcal{F}_\Lambda - \mathcal{X}^\Lambda\,\bar{\mathcal{F}}_\Lambda\right)\right],$$

$$g_{i\bar{j}} = \partial_i\partial_{\bar{j}}\mathcal{K}.$$
 (B.2)

The choice of $\Omega^M(z^i)$ fixes the symplectic frame (i.e. the basis of the symplectic fiber space) and, consequently, the non-minimal couplings of the scalars to the vector field strengths in the Lagrangian. In the special coordinate frame, the lower components \mathcal{F}_{Λ} of the section can be expressed as the gradient, with respect to the upper entries \mathcal{X}^{Λ} , of a characteristic prepotential function $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda})$:

$$\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{F}}{\partial \mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}},$$
 (B.3)

where the function $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda})$ is required to be homogeneous of degree two. The upper components $\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}(z^i)$ are defined modulo multiplication times a holomorphic function and, in this frame, can be used as projective coordinates to describe the manifold: in a local patch in which $\mathcal{X}^0 \neq 0$, we can identify the scalar fields with the ratios $z^i = \mathcal{X}^i/\mathcal{X}^0$.

A field $\Phi(z, \bar{z})$ on the Kähler manifold is a section of a U(1)-bundle of weight p if it transforms under a Kähler transformation as

$$\Phi(z,\bar{z}) \rightarrow e^{i p \operatorname{Im}[f]} \Phi(z,\bar{z}), \qquad (B.4)$$

and we can define a correspondent U(1)-covariant derivative on the bundle as

$$\mathcal{D}_{i}\Phi \equiv \left(\partial_{i} + \frac{p}{2}\,\partial_{i}\mathcal{K}\right)\Phi\,,\qquad \mathcal{D}_{\bar{\imath}}\Phi \equiv \left(\partial_{\bar{\imath}} - \frac{p}{2}\,\partial_{\bar{\imath}}\mathcal{K}\right)\Phi\,.\tag{B.5}$$

and introduce a *covariantly holomorphic vector* \mathcal{V}^M

$$\mathcal{V}^{M} = e^{\frac{\kappa}{2}} \Omega^{M} = \begin{pmatrix} L^{\Lambda} \\ M_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (B.6)$$

which is section of the U(1)-line bundle with weight p = 1, satisfying the property:

$$\mathcal{D}_{\bar{\imath}} \mathcal{V}^M = \left(\partial_{\bar{\imath}} - \frac{1}{2} \,\partial_{\bar{\imath}} \mathcal{K}\right) \mathcal{V}^M = 0\,, \tag{B.7}$$

while we also have

$$\mathcal{D}_{i} \mathcal{V}^{M} = \left(\partial_{i} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{i} \mathcal{K}\right) \mathcal{V}^{M} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{i}^{\Lambda} \\ h_{i\Lambda} \end{pmatrix} \equiv \mathcal{U}_{i}^{M}, \qquad (B.8)$$

 $\mathcal{D}_i, \mathcal{D}_{\bar{i}}$ being the above U(1)-covariant derivatives. Under a Kähler transformation defined by a holomorphic function f(z), the section transforms by a corresponding U(1)-transformation:

$$\mathcal{V}^M \to e^{i \operatorname{Im}[f]} \mathcal{V}^M. \tag{B.9}$$

From its definition and eq. (B.2), we find that \mathcal{V}^M satisfies the condition

$$\mathcal{V}^T \mathbb{C}\,\overline{\mathcal{V}} = i\,. \tag{B.10}$$

In particular, the definition of this kind of manifold requires the section \mathcal{V}^M to satisfy also the properties

$$\mathcal{D}_{i} \mathcal{U}_{j} = i \, \mathcal{C}_{ijk} \, g^{kk} \, \bar{\mathcal{U}}_{\bar{k}} \,,$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{i} \bar{\mathcal{U}}_{\bar{j}} = g_{i\bar{j}} \, \bar{\mathcal{V}} \,,$$

$$\mathcal{V}^{T} \, \mathbb{C} \, \mathcal{U}_{i} = 0 \,,$$

$$\mathcal{U}_{i}^{T} \, \mathbb{C} \, \bar{\mathcal{U}}_{\bar{j}} = -i \, g_{i\bar{j}} \,,$$

(B.11)

where C_{ijk} is a characteristic covariantly holomorphic tensor with weight p = 2 which enters the expression of the Riemann tensor and defines the Pauli terms in the Lagrangian involving the gauginos.

The scalar potential $V(z, \bar{z})$ reads:

$$V = \left(g^{i\bar{j}}\mathcal{U}_{i}^{M}\bar{\mathcal{U}}_{\bar{j}}^{N} - 3\mathcal{V}^{M}\bar{\mathcal{V}}^{N}\right)\theta_{M}\theta_{N} = -\frac{1}{2}\theta_{M}\mathcal{M}^{MN}\theta_{N} - 4\mathcal{V}^{M}\bar{\mathcal{V}}^{N}\theta_{M}\theta_{N}, \qquad (B.12)$$

where \mathcal{M}^{MN} , and its inverse \mathcal{M}_{MN} , are symplectic, symmetric, negative definite matrices encoding the non-minimal couplings of the scalars z^i to the vector fields in the Lagrangian. In particular \mathcal{M}_{MN} has the following block-structure:

$$\mathcal{M}(\phi) = (\mathcal{M}(\phi)_{MN}) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} (\mathcal{R}\mathcal{I}^{-1}\mathcal{R} + \mathcal{I})_{\Lambda\Sigma} & -(\mathcal{R}\mathcal{I}^{-1})_{\Lambda}{}^{\Gamma} \\ -(\mathcal{I}^{-1}\mathcal{R})^{\Delta}{}_{\Sigma} & (\mathcal{I}^{-1})^{\Delta\Gamma} \end{pmatrix},$$
(B.13)

and the matrices \mathcal{I}, \mathcal{R} are those contracting the vector field strengths in (2.1). It is easily verified that the above potential (B.12) can be expressed in terms of a *complex* superpotential

$$\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{V}^M \,\theta_M \,, \tag{B.14}$$

section of the U(1)-bundle with p = 1, as follows:

$$V = g^{i\bar{j}} \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{W} \mathcal{D}_{\bar{j}} \overline{\mathcal{W}} - 3 |\mathcal{W}|^2.$$
(B.15)

We can also define a *real superpotential* $\mathcal{W} = |\mathcal{W}|$ in terms of which the potential reads:

$$V = 4 g^{i\bar{j}} \partial_i \mathcal{W} \partial_{\bar{j}} \mathcal{W} - 3 \mathcal{W}^2 .$$
(B.16)

The introduced θ_M terms transform in a symplectic representation \mathscr{R}_{v^*} of the isometry group $G_{s\kappa}$ of $\mathscr{M}_{s\kappa}$ on contravariant vectors. These FI terms are analogous to the electric and magnetic charges, but while the latter can be considered as solitonic charges of the solution, the former are background quantities actually entering the Lagrangian. Moreover, even though they couple the fermion fields to the vectors, the FI terms do not define vectorscalar minimal couplings.

B.2 Effective action

Let us consider static dyonic black hole configurations and assume a radial dependence for the scalar fields, $z^i = z^i(r)$. The most general metric ansatz, with spherical or hyperbolic symmetry, has the form

$$ds^{2} = e^{2U(r)} dt^{2} - e^{-2U(r)} \left(dr^{2} + e^{2\Psi(r)} d\Sigma_{k}^{2} \right), \qquad (B.17)$$

where $d\Sigma_k^2 = d\vartheta^2 + f_k^2(\vartheta) d\varphi^2$ is the metric on the 2*D*-surfaces $\Sigma_k = \{\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{H}^2, \mathbb{R}^2\}$ (sphere, Lobachevskian plane and flat space) with constant scalar curvature R = 2k and

$$f_k(\vartheta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{k}} \sin(\sqrt{k}\,\vartheta) \rightarrow \begin{cases} \sin(\vartheta), & k = +1; \\ \sinh(\vartheta), & k = -1. \\ \vartheta, & k = 0; \end{cases}$$
(B.18)

The Maxwell equations are satisfied using the following expression for \mathbb{F}^M

$$\mathbb{F}^{M} = \begin{pmatrix} F^{\Lambda} \\ G_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix} = e^{2(U-\Psi)} \mathbb{C}^{MP} \mathcal{M}_{PN} \Gamma^{N} dt \wedge dr + \Gamma^{M} f_{k}(\vartheta) d\vartheta \wedge d\varphi = d\mathbb{A}^{M}.$$
(B.19)

The electric and magnetic charges can be defined as

$$e_{\Lambda} \equiv \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(\Sigma_k)} \int_{\Sigma_k} G_{\Lambda}, \qquad m^{\Lambda} \equiv \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(\Sigma_k)} \int_{\Sigma_k} F^{\Lambda},$$
 (B.20)

where $\operatorname{vol}(\Sigma_k) = \int f_k(\vartheta) \, d\vartheta \wedge d\varphi$. The charges can be arranged in the symplectic vector

$$\Gamma^{M} = \begin{pmatrix} m^{\Lambda} \\ e_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(\Sigma_{k})} \int_{\Sigma_{k}} \mathbb{F}^{M} \,. \tag{B.21}$$

We can obtain the equations of motion coming from the bosonic gauged Lagrangian (2.1), with the metric ansatz (B.17), from a one-dimensional effective action that, apart from total derivative terms, has the form

$$\mathscr{S}_{\text{eff}} = \int dr \, \mathscr{L}_{\text{eff}} = \int dr \left[e^{2\Psi} \left(U^{\prime 2} - \Psi^{\prime 2} + g_{i\bar{j}} z^{\prime i} \bar{z}^{\prime \bar{j}} \right) - V_{\text{eff}} \right], \tag{B.22}$$

where the prime stands for derivative w.r.t. r and where we can define an effective potential

$$V_{\rm eff} = -e^{2(U-\Psi)} V_{\rm BH} - e^{-2(U-\Psi)} V + k , \qquad (B.23)$$

in terms of the scalar potential V and the (charge-dependent) black hole potential $V_{\rm BH}$. The latter can be written in the symplectically covariant form

$$V_{\rm BH} = -\frac{1}{2} \, \Gamma^T \mathcal{M}(\phi) \, \Gamma \,, \tag{B.24}$$

in terms of the magnetic and electric charges and scalar-dependent matrix $\mathcal{M}(\phi)$.

Once given the effective action, one can make use of the Hamilton-Jacobi formalism and derive a system of first-order equations (*flow equations*) for the warp factors U(r), $\Psi(r)$ and scalar fields $z^i(r)$, $\bar{z}^{\bar{j}}(r)$.

C Supersymmetry relations

When interested in analysing supersymmetric configurations, one has to impose the vanishing of the SUSY variations, that are written as:

$$\delta\psi_{\mu A} = D_{\mu}\epsilon_{A} + i T_{\mu\nu}^{-} \gamma^{\nu} \varepsilon_{AB} \epsilon^{B} + i \mathbb{S}_{AB} \gamma_{\mu} \epsilon^{B}, \qquad (C.1a)$$

$$\delta\lambda^{iA} = i\,\partial_{\mu}z^{i}\,\gamma^{\mu}\,\epsilon^{A} - \frac{1}{2}\,g^{i\bar{\jmath}}\,\bar{f}^{\Lambda}_{\bar{\jmath}}\,\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma}\,F^{-\Sigma}_{\mu\nu}\,\gamma^{\mu\nu}\,\varepsilon^{AB}\,\epsilon_{B} + W^{iAB}\,\epsilon_{B}\,,\qquad(C.1b)$$

where we have considered properties (B.11). The covariant derivatives are written as

$$D_{\mu}\epsilon_{A} = \partial_{\mu}\epsilon_{A} + \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{ab}\gamma_{ab}\epsilon_{A} + \frac{i}{2}\left(\sigma^{2}\right)_{A}^{B}\mathbb{A}_{\mu}^{M}\theta_{M}\epsilon_{B} + \frac{i}{2}\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}\epsilon_{A}, \qquad (C.2)$$

with

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\mu} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\partial_{\bar{\imath}} \mathcal{K} \, \partial_{\mu} \bar{z}^{\bar{\imath}} - \partial_{i} \mathcal{K} \, \partial_{\mu} z^{i} \right) \,, \tag{C.3}$$

and, in the chosen parametrization, we also have

$$\begin{split} F_{\mu\nu}^{\pm} &= \frac{1}{2} \left(F_{\mu\nu} \pm^* F_{\mu\nu} \right), \qquad \gamma^{\mu\nu} = \gamma^{[\mu} \gamma^{\nu]}, \\ T_{\mu\nu} &= L^{\Lambda} \mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F_{\mu\nu}^{\Sigma} = \frac{1}{2i} L^{\Lambda} \left(\mathfrak{N} - \overline{\mathfrak{N}} \right)_{\Lambda\Sigma} F_{\mu\nu}^{\Sigma} = -\frac{i}{2} \left(M_{\Sigma} F_{\mu\nu}^{\Sigma} - L^{\Lambda} G_{\Lambda\mu\nu} \right) = \frac{i}{2} \mathcal{V}^{M} \mathbb{C}_{MN} \mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu}^{N}, \\ T_{\mu\nu}^{-} &= L^{\Lambda} \mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F_{\mu\nu}^{-\Sigma} = \frac{i}{2} \mathcal{V}^{M} \mathbb{C}_{MN} \mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu}^{-N}, \\ T_{i\mu\nu} &= \mathcal{D}_{i} T_{\mu\nu} = f_{i}^{\Lambda} \mathcal{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F_{\mu\nu}^{\Sigma} = -\frac{i}{2} \left(h_{i\Sigma} F_{\mu\nu}^{\Sigma} - f_{i}^{\Lambda} G_{\Lambda\mu\nu} \right) = \frac{i}{2} \mathcal{U}_{i}^{M} \mathbb{C}_{MN} \mathbb{F}_{\mu\nu}^{N}, \\ \mathbb{S}_{AB} &= \frac{i}{2} \left(\sigma^{2} \right)_{A}^{-C} \varepsilon_{BC} \theta_{M} \mathcal{V}^{M} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\sigma^{2} \right)_{A}^{-C} \varepsilon_{BC} \mathcal{W}, \\ W^{iAB} &= i \left(\sigma^{2} \right)_{C}^{-B} \varepsilon^{CA} \theta_{M} g^{i\bar{\jmath}} \overline{\mathcal{U}}_{\bar{\jmath}}^{M}, \end{split}$$
(C.4)

having used properties

$$\overline{\mathfrak{N}}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{-\Sigma} = G_{\Lambda}^{-}, \qquad L^{\Lambda} \mathfrak{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma} = M_{\Sigma}.$$
(C.5)

The kinetic matrix $\mathfrak{N} = \mathcal{R} + i\mathcal{I}$ can be expressed as [66]

$$\mathfrak{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma} = \partial_{\bar{\Lambda}}\partial_{\bar{\Sigma}}\bar{\mathcal{F}} + 2i \frac{\operatorname{Im}\left[\partial_{\Lambda}\partial_{\Gamma}\mathcal{F}\right] \operatorname{Im}\left[\partial_{\Sigma}\partial_{\Delta}\mathcal{F}\right] L^{\Gamma} L^{\Delta}}{\operatorname{Im}\left[\partial_{\Delta}\partial_{\Gamma}\mathcal{F}\right] L^{\Delta} L^{\Gamma}}, \qquad (C.6)$$

with $\partial_{\Lambda} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}}, \ \partial_{\bar{\Lambda}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\mathcal{X}}^{\Lambda}}.$

Just as we did for electric-magnetic charges in (B.21), we define the *central* and *matter* charges:

$$\mathscr{Z} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(\Sigma_k)} \int_{\Sigma_k} T = \mathcal{V}^M \, \mathbb{C}_{MN} \, \Gamma^N = L^\Lambda \, e_\Lambda - M_\Lambda \, q^\Lambda \,,$$

$$\mathscr{Z}_i = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(\Sigma_k)} \int_{\Sigma_k} T_i = \mathcal{D}_i \, \mathscr{Z} = f_i^\Lambda \, e_\Lambda - h_{\Lambda i} \, q^\Lambda \,.$$
 (C.7)

These are composite quantities that can be thought of as the physical charges measured on a solution at radial infinity. The black hole potential (B.24) can be schematically rewritten in terms of the central charges as [67, 68]

$$V_{\rm BH} = |\mathcal{D}\mathscr{Z}| - |\mathscr{Z}|^2 \,. \tag{C.8}$$

From an explicit computation of the supersymmetry variations (C.1), we find the following relations for the warp factors [50]

$$U' = e^{U-2\Psi} \operatorname{Re}\left[e^{-i\hat{\alpha}} \mathscr{Z}\right] + e^{-U} \operatorname{Im}\left[e^{-i\hat{\alpha}} \mathcal{W}\right],$$

$$\Psi' = 2 e^{-U} \operatorname{Im}\left[e^{-i\hat{\alpha}} \mathcal{W}\right],$$
(C.9)

and for the scalars

$$z'^{i} = e^{-U} e^{i\hat{\alpha}} g^{i\bar{j}} \mathcal{D}_{\bar{j}} \left(e^{2U-2\Psi} \,\overline{\mathscr{Z}} - i \,\overline{\mathcal{W}} \right) \,, \tag{C.10}$$

the above covariant derivative acting on objects with weight p = -1, and having introduced two projectors relating the spinor components as [10, 14, 15]

$$\gamma^{0} \epsilon_{A} = i e^{i\hat{\alpha}} \varepsilon_{AB} \epsilon^{B},$$

$$\gamma^{1} \epsilon_{A} = e^{i\hat{\alpha}} \delta_{AB} \epsilon^{B},$$
(C.11)

where $\hat{\alpha}$ is an arbitrary constant phase. The Killing spinors must satisfy the relations [50]

$$\epsilon_A = \chi_A \ e^{\frac{1}{2} \left(U - i \int dr \, \mathcal{B} \right)},$$

$$\epsilon^A = i \ e^{-i\hat{\alpha}} \ \varepsilon^{AB} \ \gamma^0 \ \epsilon_B,$$
(C.12)

where we have

$$\partial_r \chi_A = 0,$$

 $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{Q}_r + 2 e^{-U} \operatorname{Re} \left[e^{-i\hat{\alpha}} \mathcal{W} \right],$
(C.13)

and the following expression for the phase $\hat{\alpha}$ holds:

$$\partial_r \hat{\alpha} = -\mathcal{B} \,. \tag{C.14}$$

From the SUSY variations we obtain the property [50]

$$\operatorname{Im}\left[e^{-i\hat{\alpha}}\,\mathscr{Z}\right] = -e^{2\Psi - 2U}\operatorname{Re}\left[e^{-i\hat{\alpha}}\,\mathcal{W}\right]\,,\tag{C.15}$$

and using also ansatz (B.19) for $\mathbb{F}^M,$ we find for the \mathbb{A}^M_μ components:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbb{A}_{t}^{M} \theta_{M} &= 2 e^{U} \operatorname{Re} \left[e^{-i\hat{\alpha}} \mathcal{W} \right] ,\\ \mathbb{A}_{r}^{M} &= 0 ,\\ \mathbb{A}_{\vartheta}^{M} &= 0 ,\\ \mathbb{A}_{\varphi}^{M} &= -\frac{\Gamma^{M}}{k} \cos \left(\sqrt{k} \vartheta \right) , \end{aligned}$$
(C.16)

together with the relation

$$\Gamma^M \theta_M = k \,. \tag{C.17}$$

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- J.M. Maldacena, The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [2] S.W. Hawking and D.N. Page, Thermodynamics of Black Holes in anti-de Sitter Space, Commun. Math. Phys. 87 (1983) 577 [INSPIRE].
- [3] A. Chamblin, R. Emparan, C.V. Johnson and R.C. Myers, Charged AdS black holes and catastrophic holography, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 064018 [hep-th/9902170] [INSPIRE].
- [4] A. Chamblin, R. Emparan, C.V. Johnson and R.C. Myers, Holography, thermodynamics and fluctuations of charged AdS black holes, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 104026 [hep-th/9904197]
 [INSPIRE].
- [5] M. Cvetič and S.S. Gubser, Phases of R charged black holes, spinning branes and strongly coupled gauge theories, JHEP 04 (1999) 024 [hep-th/9902195] [INSPIRE].
- [6] M.M. Caldarelli, G. Cognola and D. Klemm, Thermodynamics of Kerr-Newman-AdS black holes and conformal field theories, Class. Quant. Grav. 17 (2000) 399 [hep-th/9908022]
 [INSPIRE].
- [7] F. Benini, K. Hristov and A. Zaffaroni, Black hole microstates in AdS₄ from supersymmetric localization, JHEP 05 (2016) 054 [arXiv:1511.04085] [INSPIRE].
- [8] F. Benini, K. Hristov and A. Zaffaroni, Exact microstate counting for dyonic black holes in AdS4, Phys. Lett. B 771 (2017) 462 [arXiv:1608.07294] [INSPIRE].
- [9] A. Strominger and C. Vafa, Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy, Phys. Lett. B 379 (1996) 99 [hep-th/9601029] [INSPIRE].
- [10] L.J. Romans, Supersymmetric, cold and lukewarm black holes in cosmological Einstein-Maxwell theory, Nucl. Phys. B 383 (1992) 395 [hep-th/9203018] [INSPIRE].
- M.M. Caldarelli and D. Klemm, Supersymmetry of Anti-de Sitter black holes, Nucl. Phys. B 545 (1999) 434 [hep-th/9808097] [INSPIRE].
- [12] J.P. Gauntlett, N. Kim, S. Pakis and D. Waldram, Membranes wrapped on holomorphic curves, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 026003 [hep-th/0105250] [INSPIRE].
- [13] S.L. Cacciatori and D. Klemm, Supersymmetric AdS₄ black holes and attractors, JHEP 01 (2010) 085 [arXiv:0911.4926] [INSPIRE].
- [14] K. Hristov, H. Looyestijn and S. Vandoren, BPS black holes in N = 2 D = 4 gauged supergravities, JHEP 08 (2010) 103 [arXiv:1005.3650] [INSPIRE].
- [15] K. Hristov and S. Vandoren, Static supersymmetric black holes in AdS₄ with spherical symmetry, JHEP 04 (2011) 047 [arXiv:1012.4314] [INSPIRE].
- [16] K. Hristov, C. Toldo and S. Vandoren, On BPS bounds in D = 4 N = 2 gauged supergravity, JHEP 12 (2011) 014 [arXiv:1110.2688] [INSPIRE].
- [17] C. Toldo and S. Vandoren, Static nonextremal AdS4 black hole solutions, JHEP 09 (2012) 048 [arXiv:1207.3014] [INSPIRE].

- [18] D.D.K. Chow and G. Compère, Dyonic AdS black holes in maximal gauged supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 065003 [arXiv:1311.1204] [INSPIRE].
- [19] A. Gnecchi, K. Hristov, D. Klemm, C. Toldo and O. Vaughan, Rotating black holes in 4d gauged supergravity, JHEP 01 (2014) 127 [arXiv:1311.1795] [INSPIRE].
- [20] A. Gnecchi and N. Halmagyi, Supersymmetric black holes in AdS₄ from very special geometry, JHEP 04 (2014) 173 [arXiv:1312.2766] [INSPIRE].
- [21] H. Lü, Y. Pang and C.N. Pope, An ω deformation of gauged STU supergravity, JHEP 04 (2014) 175 [arXiv:1402.1994] [INSPIRE].
- [22] F. Faedo, D. Klemm and M. Nozawa, Hairy black holes in N = 2 gauged supergravity, JHEP 11 (2015) 045 [arXiv:1505.02986] [INSPIRE].
- [23] D. Klemm, A. Marrani, N. Petri and C. Santoli, *BPS black holes in a non-homogeneous deformation of the STU model of* N = 2, D = 4 gauged supergravity, *JHEP* **09** (2015) 205 [arXiv:1507.05553] [INSPIRE].
- [24] S. Chimento, D. Klemm and N. Petri, Supersymmetric black holes and attractors in gauged supergravity with hypermultiplets, JHEP 06 (2015) 150 [arXiv:1503.09055] [INSPIRE].
- [25] K. Hristov, S. Katmadas and C. Toldo, Rotating attractors and BPS black holes in AdS₄, JHEP 01 (2019) 199 [arXiv:1811.00292] [INSPIRE].
- [26] N. Daniele, F. Faedo, D. Klemm and P.F. Ramírez, Rotating black holes in the FI-gauged $N = 2, D = 4 \overline{\mathbb{CP}}^n \mod l, JHEP 03 (2019) 151 [arXiv:1902.03113] [INSPIRE].$
- [27] A. Anabalon and D. Astefanesei, Black holes in ω-deformed gauged N = 8 supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 732 (2014) 137 [arXiv:1311.7459] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A. Anabalon, Exact Black Holes and Universality in the Backreaction of non-linear Sigma Models with a potential in (A)dS₄, JHEP 06 (2012) 127 [arXiv:1204.2720] [INSPIRE].
- [29] A. Anabalón, D. Astefanesei, A. Gallerati and M. Trigiante, Hairy Black Holes and Duality in an Extended Supergravity Model, JHEP 04 (2018) 058 [arXiv:1712.06971] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Anabalón, D. Astefanesei, D. Choque, A. Gallerati and M. Trigiante, Exact holographic RG flows in extended SUGRA, arXiv:2012.01289 [INSPIRE].
- [31] A. Anabalon, D. Astefanesei, D. Choque and J.D. Edelstein, *Phase transitions of neutral planar hairy AdS black holes*, *JHEP* 07 (2020) 129 [arXiv:1912.03318] [INSPIRE].
- [32] B. de Wit and H. Nicolai, N = 8 Supergravity with Local SO(8) × SU(8) Invariance, Phys. Lett. B 108 (1982) 285 [INSPIRE].
- [33] B. de Wit and H. Nicolai, N = 8 Supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 208 (1982) 323 [INSPIRE].
- [34] G. Dall'Agata and G. Inverso, On the Vacua of N = 8 Gauged Supergravity in 4 Dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 859 (2012) 70 [arXiv:1112.3345] [INSPIRE].
- [35] G. Dall'Agata, G. Inverso and M. Trigiante, *Evidence for a family of* SO(8) gauged supergravity theories, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **109** (2012) 201301 [arXiv:1209.0760] [INSPIRE].
- [36] G. Dall'Agata and G. Inverso, de Sitter vacua in N = 8 supergravity and slow-roll conditions, Phys. Lett. B 718 (2013) 1132 [arXiv:1211.3414] [INSPIRE].
- [37] G. Dall'Agata, G. Inverso and A. Marrani, Symplectic Deformations of Gauged Maximal Supergravity, JHEP 07 (2014) 133 [arXiv:1405.2437] [INSPIRE].

- [38] G. Inverso, *Electric-magnetic deformations of* D = 4 gauged supergravities, *JHEP* **03** (2016) 138 [arXiv:1512.04500] [INSPIRE].
- [39] M.J. Duff and J.T. Liu, Anti-de Sitter black holes in gauged N = 8 supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 554 (1999) 237 [hep-th/9901149] [INSPIRE].
- [40] P. Breitenlohner, D. Maison and G.W. Gibbons, Four-Dimensional Black Holes from Kaluza-Klein Theories, Commun. Math. Phys. 120 (1988) 295 [INSPIRE].
- [41] M. Cvetič and D. Youm, All the static spherically symmetric black holes of heterotic string on a six torus, Nucl. Phys. B 472 (1996) 249 [hep-th/9512127] [INSPIRE].
- [42] M. Cvetič and D. Youm, Entropy of nonextreme charged rotating black holes in string theory, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 2612 [hep-th/9603147] [INSPIRE].
- [43] D. Gaiotto, W. Li and M. Padi, Non-Supersymmetric Attractor Flow in Symmetric Spaces, JHEP 12 (2007) 093 [arXiv:0710.1638] [INSPIRE].
- [44] E. Bergshoeff, W. Chemissany, A. Ploegh, M. Trigiante and T. Van Riet, Generating Geodesic Flows and Supergravity Solutions, Nucl. Phys. B 812 (2009) 343
 [arXiv:0806.2310] [INSPIRE].
- [45] G. Bossard, H. Nicolai and K.S. Stelle, Universal BPS structure of stationary supergravity solutions, JHEP 07 (2009) 003 [arXiv:0902.4438] [INSPIRE].
- [46] P. Fré, A.S. Sorin and M. Trigiante, Integrability of Supergravity Black Holes and New Tensor Classifiers of Regular and Nilpotent Orbits, JHEP 04 (2012) 015 [arXiv:1103.0848] [INSPIRE].
- [47] L. Andrianopoli, R. D'Auria, A. Gallerati and M. Trigiante, Extremal Limits of Rotating Black Holes, JHEP 05 (2013) 071 [arXiv:1303.1756] [INSPIRE].
- [48] L. Andrianopoli, A. Gallerati and M. Trigiante, On Extremal Limits and Duality Orbits of Stationary Black Holes, JHEP 01 (2014) 053 [arXiv:1310.7886] [INSPIRE].
- [49] L. Andrianopoli, R. D'Auria, A. Gallerati and M. Trigiante, On D = 4 Stationary Black Holes, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 474 (2013) 012002 [INSPIRE].
- [50] A. Gallerati, Constructing black hole solutions in supergravity theories, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 34 (2020) 1930017 [arXiv:1905.04104] [INSPIRE].
- [51] M. Trigiante, Gauged Supergravities, Phys. Rept. 680 (2017) 1 [arXiv:1609.09745]
 [INSPIRE].
- [52] A. Gallerati and M. Trigiante, Introductory Lectures on Extended Supergravities and Gaugings, Springer Proc. Phys. 176 (2016) 41 [arXiv:1809.10647] [INSPIRE].
- [53] J.F. Luciani, Coupling of O(2) Supergravity with Several Vector Multiplets, Nucl. Phys. B 132 (1978) 325 [INSPIRE].
- [54] M. Henneaux, C. Martinez, R. Troncoso and J. Zanelli, Asymptotic behavior and Hamiltonian analysis of anti-de Sitter gravity coupled to scalar fields, Annals Phys. 322 (2007) 824 [hep-th/0603185] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Anabalon, D. Astefanesei and C. Martinez, Mass of asymptotically anti-de Sitter hairy spacetimes, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 041501 [arXiv:1407.3296] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Anabalon, D. Astefanesei, D. Choque and C. Martinez, Trace Anomaly and Counterterms in Designer Gravity, JHEP 03 (2016) 117 [arXiv:1511.08759] [INSPIRE].

- [57] R.C. Myers, Stress tensors and Casimir energies in the AdS/CFT correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 046002 [hep-th/9903203] [INSPIRE].
- [58] C.M. Hull, A New Gauging of N = 8 Supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 30 (1984) 760 [INSPIRE].
- [59] C.M. Hull, Noncompact Gaugings of N = 8 Supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 142 (1984) 39 [INSPIRE].
- [60] M. Cvetič, S.S. Gubser, H. Lü and C.N. Pope, Symmetric potentials of gauged supergravities in diverse dimensions and Coulomb branch of gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 086003 [hep-th/9909121] [INSPIRE].
- [61] M. Cvetič, H. Lü, C.N. Pope and A. Sadrzadeh, Consistency of Kaluza-Klein sphere reductions of symmetric potentials, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 046005 [hep-th/0002056] [INSPIRE].
- [62] B. de Wit and H. Nicolai, Deformations of gauged SO(8) supergravity and supergravity in eleven dimensions, JHEP 05 (2013) 077 [arXiv:1302.6219] [INSPIRE].
- [63] A. Strominger, Special geometry, Commun. Math. Phys. 133 (1990) 163 [INSPIRE].
- [64] J. Bagger and E. Witten, Matter Couplings in N = 2 Supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 222 (1983)
 1 [INSPIRE].
- [65] E. Lauria and A. Van Proeyen, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity in D = 4, 5, 6 Dimensions, vol. 966, Springer (2020).
- [66] M.K. Gaillard and B. Zumino, Duality Rotations for Interacting Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 193 (1981) 221 [INSPIRE].
- [67] S. Ferrara, G.W. Gibbons and R. Kallosh, Black holes and critical points in moduli space, Nucl. Phys. B 500 (1997) 75 [hep-th/9702103] [INSPIRE].
- [68] L. Andrianopoli, R. D'Auria, S. Ferrara and M. Trigiante, Extremal black holes in supergravity, Lect. Notes Phys. 737 (2008) 661 [hep-th/0611345] [INSPIRE].